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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been established as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment
risk may be attached. In particular, companies may list on GEM with neither a track record of profitability
nor any obligation to forecast future profitability. Furthermore, there may be risks arising out of the
emerging nature of companies listed on GEM and the business sectors or countries in which the companies
operate. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and
other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is publication on the internet website operated
by the Stock Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to issue paid announcements in
gazetted newspapers. Accordingly, prospective investors should note that they need to have access to
the GEM website in order to obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

The Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of this report, makes no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief: (i) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading; (ii) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement in this report misleading; and (iii) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due
and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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| am pleased to present to shareholders the annual report
of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (formerly
known as “Kanstar Environmental Paper Products Holdings
Ltd.”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2007
(“the year”).

The Year of 2007 was another tough but challenging year
for the Group in view of the intense competition and weak
operational performance in the pulp and paper products
industry. As the Directors consider that there is high growth
potential in the oil and natural gas exploration and extraction
business, the Company intends to focus its corporate
resources on oil and gas business, while retaining the sale
of pulp and paper products to maintain the income stream
of the Group from such business in the coming years.

As a result, the Group disposed its manufacturing function
in Yunnan Changning in order to streamline its business
and redeploy its resources in a more productive manner.
On the other hand, Yunnan Kanstar High Tech Products
Development Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary entered into a Supply Agreement with Yunnan
Changning Kanstar Paper Co., Ltd., a disposed subsidiary
in order to secure supply of pulp and paper products for the
Group’s ongoing business. Besides, the Group successfully
acquired additional 30% equity interest in Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd., resulting a holding of 21% of effective
interest in an Oil Project in Brunei. It is believed that the
acquisition can strengthen the revenue stream and enhance
the earnings of the Group. Details of the disposal, supply
agreement and acquisition were conveyed in the Company’s
circular to shareholders dated 6 August 2007.

In the future, the Group will continue to equip and posit
itself, and seek suitable opportunities to diversify its business
in the exploitation of natural energy resources in other parts
of Asia such as Philippines, Indonesia, Thailand and
Vietnam. These potential investment opportunities will allow
the Group to venture into large oil production and exploitation
projects.

BEHAHEREERRAT —STLFEER

AAMRAAERREZBHABHERE
BERAB (MEIZERFRERIERSA
RAR]) REMBAR (REaHEIKRE
BDBE_ZTLF+_A=1t—HL
FERNFE]) 2FH -

ERRREARTERFHNALER
BAER —ZTLFHAEEMSR
SBRHABRBIBN—F ARE=R
RARABARRARYREREXRBAA
SEREN  WARBRBEERES
BRAODHEREER  RESEENER
MEBRBEE  NEFAKEERFRZ
EBZWARR -

At AEEHEEUREHEEZSH
AP ABEARREER - LEHMED
FER NRESEEMER - m—JTH -
MEZE2EMBAREHEENRNER
MEBRAFECSHENBARERS
EREREFARDRGTLHERZE - N
RERAKREZHEEBHERREA
d oo MESN  REBRIKE R B AR E
RBR R FRRIN30% 2 B HE - A K
AHEE ZERER21% - BEWRE M
MAEEZWARR - WEMAF - H
E HEBZRKRBEFBERARTAR =
ETLFNARBFETRRZBRE

L o

-

RERR  AEERESBFLRERBRTE
- THEEEEEEXBEZal
REMDMNBRNFERE - HE - H=E
LBERARRAAGLER WEEEREHR
EREAEEEARECERNL O HEE
RFKER -
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our fellow directors, staff members and business
partners throughout the years. The Company’s directors and
management will dedicate their best effort to lead the Group
to strive for the best interests for its shareholders and
business associates.

KUAI Wei
Chairman
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Business Overview

For the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group’s turnover
increased by 16.4% to HK$50,378,000 as compared with
HK$43,295,000 in 2006. The Group recorded an audited
net profit of approximately HK$437,115,000 whereas, the
Group has recorded an audited loss of approximately
HK$18,428,000 last year. The sharp increase in net profit
was attributable to HK$487,534,000 gain arising from the
business combination of Polyard Petroleum International Co.,
Ltd. (“Polyard Macau”) in October 2007.

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
2007 (2006: nil).

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year
ended 31 December 2007 amounted to approximately
HK$9,860,000 representing an decrease of approximately
HK$10,237,000, equivalent to 50.9% decrease as comparing
with last year. There are neither provision for impairment
loss on trade and other receivables (2006: HK$4,556,000)
nor revaluation of plant and equipment (2006: revaluation
decrease of HK$10,771,000) during the year. Besides, during
the year, approximately HK$2.3 million legal and professional
fee was incurred for the further acquisition of 30% equity
interest in Polyard Macau and the disposal of a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Yunnan Changning Kanstar Paper Co.,
Ltd. (“Yunnan Changning”).

On 8 January 2007, Modern Lucky International Limited
(“Modern Lucky”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a conditional sales and purchase
agreement (supplemented by an agreement dated 31 May
2007) with Mr. Lam Nam (“Mr.
shareholder of the Company), pursuant to which Modern
Lucky has further acquired from Mr. Lam 30% of the equity
interest in Polyard Macau. Upon completion of the acquisition

Lam”) (a substantial

on 10 October 2007, Modern Lucky, after taking into account
the 20% of the capital acquired in the previous acquisition
in September 2006, was beneficially interested in 50% of
Polyard Macau and Polyard Macau became a subsidiary of
the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 8 January 2007, Kanstar Hong Kong Limited (“Kanstar
HK?”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Sure Carl Investment Limited (“Sure Carl”), wholly
owned by Mr. Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky, the previous chairman
and previous executive director of the Company, entered
into a conditional sales and purchase agreement (“Disposal
Agreement”), pursuant to which Kanstar HK has conditionally
agreed to dispose of the entire registered capital of Yunnan
Changning and related shareholder’s loan to Sure Carl
(“disposal”). This transaction was completed on 10 October
2007.

On 26 January 2007, Yunnan Changning, as supplier, and
Yunnan Kanstar High Tech Products Development Company
Limited (“Kanstar High Tech”), as customer, entered into a
conditional supply agreement (“Supply Agreement”) to
ensure consistent supply of pulp and paper products to the
Group after the disposal. Pursuant to the Supply Agreement,
Kanstar High Tech has agreed to purchase from Yunnan
Changning pulp and paper products for the Group’s daily
operation of the sale of such products. The Supply
Agreement is for the period commencing on the date of
completion of the Disposal Agreement and expiring on 31
December 2009. In this connection, the Board is of the
view that there will be no material impact on the business
operations of the Group as a result of the disposal.

On 29 August 2007, a special resolution was passed by the
shareholders of the Company to change the Company name
from “Kanstar Environmental Paper Products Holdings
Limited 2 2 R IR 4 mn £ R HF R 2 5]” to “Polyard Petroleum
International Group Limited B H A KB REE AR AR in
order to better reflect the Group’s emphasis on oil business.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2007
amounted to approximately HK$4,983,000 (2006:
HK$1,032,000). The increase was mainly derived from
increase in the outstanding balance of the bank loan to
finance the Group’s development during the year.
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Prospects

In view of the intense competition and weak operational
performance in the pulp and paper products industry, the
Company considers the necessary to streamline the Group’s
business and redeploy its resources in a more productive
manner. On 6 February 2008, Modern Lucky entered into a
conditional sales and purchase agreement with Mr. Lam,
pursuant to which Modern Lucky has conditionally agreed
to further acquire 50% equity interest in Polyard Macau. On
the same date, Polyard Macau entered into a conditional
sales and purchase agreement with Chinaoil USA Inc.,
pursuant to which Polyard Macau has conditionally agreed
to further acquire 30% equity interest in Chinaoil USA
(Macao) Company Limited (“Chinaoil Macao”). Upon
completion of these two conditional sales and purchase
agreements, Polyard Macau and Chinaoil Macao will become
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Details of these
two agreements were conveyed in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 February 2008. As the Directors
consider that there is high growth potential in the oil
business, the Company intends to focus its corporate
resources on oil business, while retaining the sale of pulp
and paper products to maintain the income stream of the
Group from such business in the coming years.

On 31 January 2008, Polyard Petroleum (Hong Kong)
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
signed a Co-operative Agreement with North Petroleum &
Chemical Group Co., Ltd, a limited company incorporated
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Pursuant to the
Co-operative Agreement, a petroleum company will be
incorporated in the PRC and will principally engage in the
trading of petroleum-related products in the PRC. Details of
the Co-operative Agreement was conveyed in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 February 2008.

It is believed that the establishment of the above-mentioned
petroleum company would have a synergy effect to the
existing oil and natural gas business of the Group and
represent a mile stone for the Group to enter into the PRC
energy market.

BEHAHEREERRAT —STLFEER

RE
Aﬁﬁ&%mﬁiﬁiﬂﬂﬁmﬂi
REE - RRARRELEBLERE

.%ﬁlﬁﬁ%%éﬁ’uhﬁiéﬂ

meRZETENF_ARE  HEBH

M%Eﬂiﬁ%ﬁﬁgﬁa*ﬁ%'%

ERBERMGMRAZE-— T KHERRR W

50%HxfE - AR - EEB&F%@EP BB &
Hm(EE) BRAR uTiﬁﬂﬂﬁFEﬁEﬁ%
OB BEEBRMEKGHREEE—
FWEPBRBAEABEERCRM) BRA
A ([P B SHIRPT ] ) 30%A% 1 - M2 M IE
ERUHEERETHE - BHEREPRH
BHBPEKAEARRIZZERB A
Al ZMBEWBRZIFBEHRAQTR
ZEENF_ATABRHEZAM A
REEZREABEKEERERESN -
MARRBMBERAREREFRAGH
¥ RANEEXRESHERAEAREE
NERBAEBRFRZEB ZBAR
R e

R-_ZEZENF-A=1+—B AQAZ
FEJ *2EMBARARAOH(FE)AR
AEEIETAMIET (B ARAR (—
R EARLME ([ E])FMAZ
ZBERRAR) R EEHZ - RIEZEF
W& MR EEMKL -—BaHA
Al YKEITERERTEEE A HEH
Ean e BFHZEIABEHNARARN
—EENF_AREBHEZAM-

ARRMEELRABRRZKL B R
AEEZREABRERRRER® K
FIE @ RAANEEEAFBEERT S
2B -



Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group has set up a technical team, which possesses
full expertise in oil projects, to be responsible for the oil
business. Details of the technical team is set forth in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
section. Given the technical team’s experience in connection
with running of oil projects, the Company will endeavour to
explore more opportunities in the business of natural energy
resources and lead the Group to venture into large oil
production and exploitation projects.

Liquidity, Financial Resources, Capital and
Gearing

As at 31 December 2007, the Group had net assets
amounted to approximately HK$2,868 million (2006:
HK$253.2 million) and net current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$19.7 million (2006: HK$8.4 million). The
current ratio was 0.8 (2006: 0.75). The gearing ratio of the
Group, based on the net debt to shareholders’ equity, was
8.8% (2006: 7.5%). All outstanding bank borrowings were
settled by 31 December 2007.

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Renminbi
(“RMB”), Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) and United States
Dollars (“US$”) and its revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities
and borrowings are principally denominated in RMB, HK$
and US$, which do not pose significant foreign currency
risk at present.
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Employee Information

The Group had a total staff of approximately 30 (2006:
approximately 520 employees). Remuneration packages are
reviewed on a periodical basis. Bonus is awarded to
employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. Besides, a share option scheme was adopted
by the Company, pursuant to which the directors may offer
to any eligible employees (including executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company and
any of its subsidiaries options to subscribe for shares in the
Company in accordance with the terms of the share option
scheme. However, save for the share option granted prior
to the listing, no other options have been granted up to 31
December 2007. Staff cost was approximately HK$4 million
for the year as compared with that of approximately HK$4
million in 2006.
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Introduction

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
most of the code provisions set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2007, by establishing formal and transparent procedures to
protect and maximize the interests of shareholders.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings
set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as
the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions in securities of the Company. Upon the
Company’s specific enquiry, each director had confirmed
that during the year ended 31 December 2007, he had fully
complied with the required standard of dealings and there
was no event of non-compliance.

Board of Directors

The Board, which currently comprises 6 directors, is
responsible for supervising the management of the Group.
Details of the Chairman and the other directors of the Group
are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

In November and December 2007, the Company had fewer
than 3 independent non-executive directors and did not
comply with the requirements under Rule 5.05(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules. Following the appointment of a new
independent non-executive director in January 2008 within
the prescribed period set forth in Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of
the GEM Listing Rules, the Company is in compliance with
rule 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, and has
three independent non-executive directors and at least one
of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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The Company has received from each independent non-
executive director an annual confirmation of his
independence, and the Company considers such directors
to be independent in accordance with each and the various

guidelines set out in rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

With the various experience of both the executive directors
and the non-executive directors and the nature of the
Group’s business, the Board considered that the directors
have a balance of skills and experience for the business of
the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other means
of electronic communication at least four times a year. At
least 14 days’ notice of regular board meetings were given
to all directors, who were all given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for discussion. The Company
Secretary assists the directors in preparing the agenda for
the meeting, and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations regarding the meetings are observed.

The attendance record of the individual directors at the
Board meetings during the year is set out below:

BITESE

Executive directors:

Mr. CHIM Kim Kiu, Jacky IEgl s

Mr. SUN Tak Keung FEBELE
Mr. CHENG Kwok Hing, Andy B [ 4 A
Mr. KWOK Ching Chung LENE A
Mr. KUAI Wei eEEE
Mr. LIN Zhang OE &
Mr. CAO Xuejun BEFELE
Independent non-executive directors: BIUFHTES:
Mr. CHAN Chi Hung, Anthony PR 75 2 5E A
Mr. WANG Ai Guo FEEESE
Mr. WAN Hon Keung IR SR SE
Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong BRIESE kA&
Mr. WANG Yanhui FIREBE A
Mr. Zhang Xiaobao REE XA

BEHAHEREERRAT —STLFEER
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EEEE3

ExgERe  BERIEBHESES
FREOR BEERMEREBRILFEIEBR
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MorRESEAEREREBIERY
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ROERELSIET

Attendance

R

6/14
11/13
10/10

1/9
9/11
6/6
0/0

10/16
0/9
1/14
2/2
0/2
0/0
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During regular meetings of the Board, the directors discuss
and formulate the overall strategies of the Group, monitor
financial performances and discuss the annual and interim
and quarterly results, as well as discuss and decide on
other significant matters. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to management.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each
board meeting in detail by keeping detailed minutes,
including all decisions by the Board together with concerns
raised and dissenting views expressed (if any). Drafts of
board minutes are circulated to all directors for comment
and approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All
minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
request by any director.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information
at all times as the Chairman ensures that management will
supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner. They may make further
enquiries if in their opinion it is necessary or appropriate to
request for further information. They also have unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary,
who is responsible to the Board for providing directors with
Board papers and related materials, and ensuring that all
proper Board procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. If considered to be
necessary and appropriate by the directors, they may retain
independent professional advisors at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a
substantial shareholder or a director, such matter will be
discussed through an actual meeting and will not be dealt
with by written resolutions. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest will be present at
meetings dealing with such conflict issues.

The board committees, including the audit committee and
the remuneration committee, have all adopted the applicable
practices and procedures used in board meetings for all
committee meetings.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Group is Mr. Kuai Wei and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Cao Xuejun. The roles
of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and
not performed by the same individual to avoid power being
concentrated in any one individual. The Chairman of the
Group is primarily responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board, and ensuring that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely and constructive manner, whereas the Chief Executive
Officer is primarily responsible for the running of the Group’s
business and implementation of the Group’s strategy in
achieving the overall commercial objectives.

The Chairman also encourages all directors, including the
independent non-executive directors, to actively participate
in all board and committee meetings.

Non-Executive Directors

All independent non-executive directors, Mr. Chan Kin
Cheong, Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Zhang Xiaobao had not
entered into any service contract with any member of the
Company and are not appointed for a fixed term. They are
not entitled to any remuneration, except for a bonus for
each financial year which is at the Board’s discretion and
determined by reference to the Company’s results and
performance for the financial year concerned. They are
subjected to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
next following general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

Remuneration of Directors

The remuneration committee was established in 2005. On
12 December 2007, Mr. Wan Hon Keung resigned as the
chairman of the committee and Mr. Chan Kin Cheong, an
independent non-executive director, was appointed to fill
the vacancy on the same date. Other members are Mr.
Wang Yanhui and Mr. Zhang Xiaobao, both are independent
non-executive directors of the Company.
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The role and function of the remuneration committee
included the determination of the specific remuneration
packages of all executive directors and senior management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the board of the remuneration of non-
executive directors. The remuneration committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration.

During the year, no meeting of the remuneration committee
was held as all existing members of the remuneration
committee were appointed either in December 2007 or
January 2008.

The Board of directors has considered and reviewed the
existing terms of employment contracts of the executive
directors and considers that the existing terms of
employment contracts of the executive directors are fair and
reasonable.

Nomination of Directors

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Chan Kin Cheong, Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Zhang
Xiaobao are subjected to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the next following general meeting of the
Company.

Further, according to the Company’s articles of association,
the office of directorship of each of Mr. Lin Zhang and Mr.
Cao Xuejun, who was appointed as a director by the
directors of the Company during the year, will end at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Each
of Mr. Lin Zhang and Mr. Cao Xuejun, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 5.28 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
Company’s annual reports and quarterly financial reports
and providing advice and comments thereon to the Board.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing and
supervising the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control procedures.

The Audit Committee comprises the three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Kin Cheong, Mr. Wang
Yanhui and Mr. Zhang Xiaobao. Mr. Wang Ai Guo, Mr. Wan
Hon Keung and Mr. Chan Chi Hung, Anthony were resigned
on 7 November 2007, 30 November 2007 and 12 December
2007 respectively. Both Mr. Chan Kin Cheong and Mr. Wang
Yanhui were appointed on 12 December 2007 and Mr. Zhang
Xiaobao was appointed on 16 January 2008.

The audit committee held 4 meetings during the year under
review. Details of the attendance of the audit committee
meetings are as follows:

Members

8=

Mr. Chan Chi Hung, Anthony PR S S A
Mr. Wang Ai Guo FEEEA
Mr. Wan Hon Keung BB g S
Mr. Chan Kin Cheong BRIE B 54
Mr. Wang Yanhui EE'SE)@?EE
Mr. Zhang Xiaobao B E kA

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and
audited annual results during the year ended 31 December
2007 have been reviewed by the audit committee, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure have been made.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the total fee
paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the Company’s external auditors is set out
below:

Types of services PR 75 2 4R
Audit services E IR
Non-audit services T IZ AR TS

Total @5t

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities
for Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group.

The responsibilities of the external auditors are set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders of the
Company on pages 34 to 37 of the annual report of the
Company.

Internal Control

The Company has conducted a review of its system of
internal control periodically to ensure the effective and
adequate internal control system. The Company convened
meeting periodically to discuss financial, operational and
risk management control.
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and Senior Management

BAR@EAN

Executive Directors

Mr. KUAI Wei (2812), aged 46,
managing executive director of the Company. Mr. Kuai holds
a master degree in business administration from the

is the Chairman and

University of South Australia and has over 20 years of
experience in banking, electrical transmission and
transformation equipment and satellite broadcasting. Mr. Kuai
has been involved as a senior management member for
strategic planning, business development, operation and
overall management of various companies. He joined the
Group in July 2007.

Mr. LIN Zhang (#&), aged 26, holds a bachelor degree
in economics from Tianjin University of Commerce. Prior to
joining the Company in November 2007, Mr. Lin worked in
the Indonesia branch of Chinaoil USA (Macao) Company
Limited for two years and was responsible for the petroleum
exploitation, development and related trading business.

Mr. CAO Xuejun (BEEE),
Executive Officer holds a bachelor degree from the China
University of Petroleum (formerly known as “The Beijing

aged 62, is also the Chief

Petroleum Institute”). Mr. Cao has over 39 years’ working
experience in oil and gas development projects, and
participated in several big offshore oil and gas field
development projects. Prior to joining the Company in
December 2007, he was the President of the Shanghai
Branch of CNOCC (China) Ltd. Mr. Cao was also a visiting
scholar in Alabama State University, United States of
America and was engaged as a consultant in a subsidiary
of the Company since June 2007.
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and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Yanhui (£ ##), aged 45, holds a master degree
in Public Administration from Harvard University and a doctor
degree in Management from Xi’an Jiaotong University. He
was a senior Economist and also an adjunct professor in
Xi’an Jiaotong University. Mr. Wang is now the vice president
of Shenzhen Ping An Bank (formerly known as Shenzhen
Commercial Bank). Mr. Wang was appointed as an
independent non-executive director in December 2007.

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong (FRf& &), aged 42, has over 6
years working experience in accounting and auditing.
Mr. Chan holds a bachelor degree in Quantitative Analysis
for Business and a master degree of Professional Accounting
and Information Systems from City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Chan is an associate member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director in December 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (R ), aged 50, holds a geological
bachelor degree from Changchun Institute of Geology, a
master degree in sedimentology and a PhD degree in natural
gas geochemistry from Chinese Academy of Sciences. In
2004, he took a position of associate chief geologist in the
Research Institute of Petroleum Exploration and
Development, Qinghai Oil Field, Chinese National Petroleum
Corporation. During his 30 years research experience, he
has been responsible for over 20 programs and published
over 30 papers. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent
non-executive director in January 2008.
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and Senior Management

Senior Management

Mr. CHENG Yun Sing (## ), aged 74, was appointed
as the company secretary of the Company in November
2007. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Public Accountants, and has been practicing as
a Certified Public Accountant for more than 35 years.

Ms. CHUNG Ming Yin, Kate (##83%) , aged 33, joined the
Company in December 2007 as the qualified accountant.
Prior to joining the Company, she has over 6 years working
experience in accounting and auditing. Ms. Chung holds a
bachelor degree in Accounting from City University of Hong
Kong. She is an associate member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. LAl Chun Liang (R R), aged 43, joined Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as Executive Vice President
in 2003. He holds a bachelor degree in Electronic
Engineering. Prior to joining the group, he has over 10 years
experience in development of angiocarpy monitoring
instrument and research on GPS and navigation system.
He has years of experience in operation and management
of companies.

Mr. CHAN Chong Yam, Steven (FR3€#R), aged 53, joined
Polyard Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as financial
controller in June 2007. He is a member of Certified General
Accountants Association of Canada and has over 20 years
accounting and financial working experience.

Mr. QIN Han Sheng (E#4), aged 45, joined Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as a Senior Geologist of
the Technical Team since December 2007. Mr. Qin has over
22 years working experience in exploration for oil and gas
in CNPC of China and was responsible for 18 petroleum
exploration projects.
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TEARMESN

Ms. LIU Ying (%/#%), aged 45, joined as a senior
geophysicist of the Technical Team of Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd. since December 2007. Ms. Liu has
previously acted as the Chief for Block D, Oil Exploration
and Development project in Irawaddy Basin, a joint venture
between Myanmar and SINOPEC. She was awarded for
discovery of Yunnan Luliang Nature Gas Field in 1994 and
Qujing Basi Nature Gas Field in 2004.

Mr. ZHOU Jin Tang (B £ %), aged 44, joined as a
geoscientist of the Technical Team of Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd. since December 2007. Mr. Zhou has
22 years petroleum exploring experience and is well versed
in geochemical and geophysical techniques.

Mr. ZHANG Yong Qiang, (57K i), aged 40, joined as a
Reservoir Engineer of the Technical Team of Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. since December 2007. Prior
to joining the company, Mr. Zhang participated in Reservoir
Accurate Description project for Shahejie Formation of
Liuzan Qilfield in Jidong Oilfield in 2004 and Deep Gas
Exploration Potential project of Niuju Qilfield in 2005.
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The directors submit their report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2007
(“the year”).

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in research and
development of paper filling material and the manufacture
and sales of pulp and paper. During the year, the Group is
further engaged in the exploration of oil and natural gas
business, as a result, there are changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
business and geographical segments is set out in note 13
to the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set forth in the
consolidated income statement on page 38.

The directors do not recommend any payment of a dividend
for the year.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in notes 30 to the financial
statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment

of the Group are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.
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Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in notes 29 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
132.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities
During the year ended 31 December 2007, neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.
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Share Options

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 June 2002
for the purpose of providing incentives to the directors and
eligible participants, under which the Company may grant
options to the directors and employees of the Group and
also other eligible participants to subscribe for shares of
the Company. Certain directors and participants have been
granted options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
to subscribe for shares at an exercise price of HK$0.002
(Note) per share, details of which are set out as follows:

Name of grantee Date of grant Exercisable period

REARR REAH TTESH
Director
%
Mr. Sun Tak Keung 26 June 2002 12 July 2002 —
(resigned as director ZTECF 11 July 2007
of the Company NEZTAE I R =
on 28 November 2007) ZETLELAT-H
FEREL
(RZZTLF 12 January 2003 —
+-A-t+NH 11 January 2008
HERAAEER) “ZZ=F-A+ZBZE
—ZZ\E-RA+-H
Others 26 June 2002 12 July 2003 —
it “TECF 11 July 2008
~NAZTAR ZEE-5tATZRE
—ZZ\FE+A+-A
Total
@it

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR

B

ARABR ZZEZE_FRNAZ+NBEHRP
MIBEREAZ(UATEAEIEXAHA
AT R 8 R [BRER &) - 1A
HBHEFERAER2HE  AQAAR
BzEHEnAEEEEREEURE
theEBER2EERDERE  UREX
RNREG o B E XA FIBIRA IR
HE FETEER2HECERER
FE - AT ERE0.0027T (A7) 2 171E
BRERND  BRAFBEHIINOT :

Number of shares options

BREXE

Exercised/
lapsed  Outstanding
Outstanding during as at
as at the year 31 December
1 January under 2007
2007 review R-EE+%
R-ZB2tE REE t=A
Granted -A-H FER =t+-H
BRI MAAE  TE/XX e R AT
45,000,000 45,000,000  (45,000,000) -
30,000,000 30,000,000  (30,000,000) -
48,750,000 500,000 - 500,000
75,500,000  (75,000,000) 500,000
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Note: Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 7 October 2003,
each of the initial issued and unissued Shares having a par
value of HK$0.01 were subdivided into five Subdivided Shares
having a par value of HK$0.002 each with effect from 8
October 2003. This share subdivision gave rise to adjustments
to both the exercise price and the number of underlying
shares granted under the pre-IPO share option scheme, and
accordingly every option originally granted was increased to
five options.

No option under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company were granted during the year.

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were set out
in the Prospectus issued by the Company on 5 July 2002.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. CHIM Kim Kiu, Jacky (Chairman)
(resigned on 10 December 2007)
Mr. SUN Tak Keung
(resigned on 28 November 2007)
Mr. CHENG Kwok Hing, Andy
(resigned on 12 November 2007)
Mr. KWOK Ching Chung
(resigned on 26 June 2007)
Mr. KUAI Wei (Chairman)
(appointed on 13 July 2007)
Mr. LIN Zhang
(appointed on 12 November 2007)
Mr. CAO Xuejun
(appointed on 20 December 2007)

Hist - MBARAR_TE=F+AtHE
TZBRREREBHIARE LMBB —HE
BARRER BA-_ZTT=F+ANER
e BREEEK0OITTRE TR
ARBETZRO - FARSEREREE
ﬁéﬁ%o 0027 Z Al ffn » RBIBRAD 73

78 BUR IR 5 R D 5 B A% A B AR R AT
BETZORBRREEERNEE
HE - RERHZESHBERE - 20
BRI BRE -

ARARRFERABERBEARN 2 BIE
At &R B E AR AE -

BRARBEENBERETS ZFBRR
ARABAR_ZTZE_FLARBNEZR

fREIR o

ES

ARABREFEARBEAREANZES
LI

HITES :

ERlBEE (TFE)
(RZZEZLF+-A+HEE)
FEEEL
(R—ZEZTLF+— A=+ /\BEE)
9B B R 5t A
(R-ZZZTLF+— A+ ZHEHE)
BEMEE
(73_/\*7 7‘t£|5/\ﬂ +/\E|%¥ff)
HEEL (FFE)
(R_ZEZLFLAT=BEZE)
OB L&
(R-ZZETLF+ A+ -HEZE)
BEEFERLE
(R=ZZZtF+-A=-THEZF)
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Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. CHAN Chi Hung, Anthony

(resigned on 12 December 2007)
Mr. WANG Ai Guo

(resigned on 7 November 2007)
Mr. WAN Hon Keung

(resigned on 30 November 2007)
Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong

(appointed on 12 December 2007)
Mr. WANG Yanhui

(appointed on 12 December 2007)
Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao

(appointed on 16 January 2008)

By virtue of article 108 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Kuai Wei who was appointed by the Board
of Directors as an executive director and being elected as
the Chairman of the Board is not required to retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

By virtue of article 112 of the Company’s articles of
association, the office of directorship of each of Mr. Lin
Zhang and Mr. Cao Xuejun, who were appointed as executive
directors with effect from 12 November 2007 and 20
December 2007 respectively, and Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr.
Chan Kin Cheong, who were appointed as independent non-
executive directors with effect from 12 December 2007 and
Mr. Zhang Xiaobao who was appointed as independent non-
executive director with effect from 16 January 2008, will
end at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. Each of Mr. Lin Zhang, Mr. Cao Xuejun, Mr. Wang
Yanhui, Mr. Chan Kin Cheong and Mr. Zhang Xiaobao, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Lin Zhang is appointed by the Company for a term of
one year commencing from 12 November 2007 which may
be terminated by either party thereto giving to the other not
less than three calendar months’ prior notice in writing. He
is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
forth coming general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Company's articles of association.

Mr. Kuai Wei signed a service agreement with the Company
on 16 January 2008 for a term of one year which may be
terminated by either party thereto giving to the other not
less than three calendar months’ prior notice in writing. By
virtue of 108 of the Company's article of association, Mr
Kuai who is elected as the Chairman of the Board is not
required to retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BEHAHEREERRAT —STLFEER

BUFATES :

PR & ST A&
(F_77t¢+ A+ = B#HE)
EEKE
(F_Q?t¢+ A+ BEE)
IE IR S A
(RZZETLF+—A=THEHE)
RigExE
(R-ZZETLF+ A+ -HEZE)
Eﬁﬁﬁi
(R-ZEZLF+_A+_-HE
KEELL
(R=ZFZTN\F-A+"HEZI)

RIBEAQRZABERAAFE 10815 - &
BALHBHETERIR/ATES B
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RIEARFZAMBIZAAE112015 -
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BEXERERREG LBREXL -
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B EE -
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AZEXREEBAMEL - RIBEAQF
ZHEBEIRMAIE 108K - GRS ETIERE
REZSIRE HBARERERRESF
RELRIE-
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Mr. Cao Xuejun was engaged as a consultant of Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, for an initial term of one year commencing from

21 May 2007.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the directors who are
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

Biographical details of directors and senior
management

Biographical details of directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 18 to 21 of
the annual report.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and/or Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2007, the interests and short positions
of Directors and chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”)), which were required to be
notified to the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rules 5.46 and 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
the securities transactions by Directors, were as follows:

Name
of Director Capacity
ExEps 237)

Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky (Note 2)

‘RIE (K2 REH QAR

Interest of controlled corporation

BEREBEEERARBAZMBARBRA
HEEREAERARHERER - EHH -2
TLFRA+—RERONTR/RE—F -

BREXHEBEEIN  MERRERERR
BEAELBEEBEXZESHERLRD
Al S E AR P B & B A K JE B R 2 IR 7%
BHMZANTER - FRARAEERR
IEMEFRTEAEREAINZEE -

EEREREEAEHN

ARBEBEERAEESHEEABBN
HNERFI18EE21H -

EERBEETHRAERARQT
SEMABEE 2 RHG - HE
BRORESH2EBR,HHK

B

R_ZTE+F+_A=+—H BEEK
E*ﬁﬁftﬁz BRAARREMREER (F
BERBFRBEGRA (IBFRBER
Bl1)) B ﬁfaﬁ MERESHTEAR
BEFANBEEMEXVIBETRESD
ARMEHMI o R RKE - HIREH
%&ﬁﬁéﬁﬂﬂﬁ@xv*l@sszf 2 saﬁm&
Wepril v B MRz s RXAE - R
BEIZR TR A 55, 46i%5 671' *ﬁﬁ%
EFENESFRGZRATANEAERRN
MRz S AR

Approximate

Number of percentage
shares held of interests
FERGHE BAEZBEL
(Note 1)
(Ffst1)
1,333,350,000 (L) 24.66
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Notes: Mt -

L FREEFARSTHRAR ZKRN
S AE R A R A e

1. The letter “L” represents the interests in Shares or underlying 1.
Shares of the Directors or chief executive.

ERBEER _TTLF+-_A+HE
EARARREFERRNTES o

FERRRARARMDKRAEE
BAzERRBKR

2. Mr. Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky resigned as the Chairman and an 2.
Executive Director of the Company since 10 December 2007.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares of the Company

ARABARBEESLBEGRIEXVEE
(FEZTERRERMAT » N
ETLF+-_A=+t—H ARACZE
HMEATETERR 2 #mMOXR (AIAR
AR BITIRARN Z25%A F) » % EREmE
EXBRBEEBEERESITRAR Z#
m— FFE e

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept
under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at
31 December 2007, the Company had been notified of the
following substantial shareholders’ interests and short
positions, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued share
capital. These interests are in addition to those disclosed
above in respect of the directors and chief executives.

Approximate

Number of percentage
Name of person shares held Capacity of interest
AT BB FsROHBE 6% BAEZES
(Note 1)
(Htat1)
Mr. Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky 1,338,350,000 (L) Iﬂterest of a controlled corporation 24.66%
Egl - (Note 2) Sk VN o
(Htat2)
Siko Venture Limited 1,333,350,000 (L) Beneficial owner 24.66%
(Note 2) EmEBA
(Htat2)
Lam Nam 1,333,000,000 (L) Iﬂterest of a controlled corporation 24.65%
VeS| (Note 3) gk NG o £
(Ht7F3)
642,679,607 (L)  Beneficial owner 11.88%
(Note 4) EmEAA
(HtiF4)
Silver Star Enterprises 1,333,000,000 (L) Beneficial owner 24.65%
Holdings Inc. (Note 3) (f7+3) EmlE A
Inwood Support Limited 500,700,000 (L)  Beneficial owner 9.26%
(Note 5) (}/ 7%5) (Note 6) ExmEAA
(Kt &t 6)
Wu Bo (Note 5) 500,700,000 (L) Interest of a controlled corporation 9.26%
RK (HtaE5) REH AR S
Lin Xuefang (Note 7) (A7) 500,700,000 (L) Interest of spouse 9.26%

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” represents the person’s interests in shares or
underlying shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of Siko Venture Limited is
beneficially owned by Mr. Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky, the ex-
chairman and previous director of the Company.

3. The entire issued share capital of Silver Star Enterprises
Holdings Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam.

4. These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds that
were created and issued upon completion of the acquisition
of a further 30% equity interest in Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd. by the Company.

5. Inwood Support Limited is wholly owned by Wu Bo.

6. These shares represent the shares to be allotted and issued
upon exercise in full of the subscription rights attaching to
the warrants held by Inwood Support Limited.

7. Lin Xuefang is the spouse of Wu Bo.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2007, the
directors are not aware of any other person or corporation
having an interest or short position in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company representing 5% or more
of the Company’s issued share capital.

Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration

of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

ff iz

1. [LIFEEZATREROSEERDZ

MRS o

2.  Siko Venture Limitedz & %f 2 3 17 I A
AARARINEERAESERIBEAE
=R o

3.  Silver Star Enterprises Holdings Inc.2
2EEETRABNRBEELEERESR -

4. ZEBROETERALFAE -—FURER
FH 3 0 B TR & B 30% % 1 72 A 1% 45
REFBETZ AR ERM & 2 S iakEm
Al TR J 3R AT e

5.  Inwood Support Limitedf 2% & &
5 o

6. % EMMERZMEITEMHInwood
Support Limited# & 2 BB &M 5 2
RIS T RS R BT 2D -

7. Lin Xuefang& 2K 2 Fl 18 -

BREXPHBEEN  R_TTLF L+
A=+—8B BEEFRH  HEEFHE
MALTRRBRERE Z KRG R, 3HE
BAEROPREEERRABE BEITRAE%N
N EZERIRE -

EESYN
FNLBRADABREMEAHRS

EBcERRTBREBMALEREZ
BH -
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, approximately 33% and 19% of the Group’s
total purchases of materials were attributable to the five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier respectively.

During the year, approximately 43% and 14% of the Group’s
total sales were attributable to the five largest customers
and the largest customer respectively.

Mr. Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky, a previous director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, became the
beneficial owner of the Group’s largest supplier, Yunnan
Changning Kanstar Paper Co., Ltd (“Yunnan Changning”)
since the disposal of Yunnan Changning by the Group in
October 2007.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, their
respective associates or any shareholders of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than
5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had any
interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR

FTEEFRHEER

RER AEEZRAAHERREAHR
FER D BRI R AR B 2 IR R 2 33% I
19% °

RER REBZAREFPREAEP
DRIKERKEEZ B ERE243% N
14% °

AEBER _ZTELFTALERERZ
EAHEREESERERXBRAA
(EmEEDEK  BERIBXE (KARRZ
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Connected Transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 33
to the financial statements also constituted connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, required to be
disclosed in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The following transactions between certain connected
parties (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and the
Company have been entered into and/or are ongoing for
which relevant announcements, if necessary, have been
made by the Company in accordance with the requirements
of the GEM Listing Rules.

(1) Very Substantial Acquisition and Connected
Transaction

On 10 October 2007, the Group acquired further 30%
of the share capital of Polyard Petroleum International
Co., Ltd. (“Polyard Macau”) from Mr. Lam Nam (“Mr.
Lam”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, at a
consideration of HK$468,232,231. The consideration
was settled through the issue of 533,000,000 ordinary
share of the Company at HK$0.36 each and the issue
of HK$276,352,231 convertible bonds with a conversion
price of HK$0.43 per conversion share to Mr. Lam.
Upon the completion of the acquisition, Polyard Macau
become a 50%-owned subsidiary of the Company.

(2) Very Substantial and Connected

Transaction

Disposal

On 10 October 2007, the Group disposed the entire
registered capital of Yunnan Changning Kanstar Paper
Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Changning”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and a wholly-foreign owned
enterprise established in the PRC together with HK$39
million interest-free shareholder’s loan due from Yunnan
Changning to Kanstar Hong Kong Limited (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) to Sure Carl
Investment Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chim
Kim Kiu, Jacky, who resigned as the chairman and a
director of the Company on 10 December 2007. The
consideration consisted of HK$26 million in cash and
the repayment for the group in the sum of HK$15.6
million being principal amount due and payable by the
Group under the banking facilities as at the date of
completion of the Disposal Agreement.

RARAIF R L AR A

C RIS AR MY R

WHWBEZETHEALRZEXA
REIZR ETMHRRNE20ERE 2BER
5 o RRAIERFEAIFR ETARR 2R
ERTNIETHEEAL(EERAIFERLE
MRA) BARARREETRHEETZ
RBELHEBEAM (WETE) -

(1)

(2)

FEERRBRBAERS

RZEZELF+A+H AEEE
—HAARAEEREMEELE
(IMEEDWEERAABEEBER
AR ([EHEBF])30%A - KRIE
5B 1468,232,2317T ° RIBJH AR
A% 7% #50.36 7T M #77533,000,000
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IRDE¥0.437L 2 BB R ML E
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(3)

Continuing Connected Transaction

On 26 January 2007, Yunnan Changning as supplier
and Yunnan Kanstar High Tech Products Development
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company as customer entered into a Supply
Agreement to ensure consistent supply of pulp and
paper products to the Group after the disposal of
Yunnan Changning for a period from the date of
completion of the Disposal Agreement up to 31
December 2009. The price is to be determined on an
annual basis with reference to the prevailing market
price of the products concerned.

The directors of the Company,
independent non-executive directors, considered that

including the

all of the above transactions were in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms and fair and reasonable so far as
the Company and its shareholders are concerned.
Patrick Ng & Company, the auditors of the Company,
had reviewed the transactions and reported that:

(a) the transactions have been approved by the Board
of Directors;

(b) the pricing of the transactions are in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Company;

(c) the transactions have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant agreements

governing the transactions; and

(d) the amounts of the transactions have not
exceeded the relevant caps.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that
there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this report.

Competing Business

Mr. Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky, the ex-chairman and a previous
director of the Company (resigned on 10 December 2007),
is a director of Riches Good Limited (“Riches Good”), the
entire issued share capital of which is held by Mr. Chim
Kim Kiu, Jacky. In October 2004, Riches Good purchased
the assets and production machines from a bankrupted
paper manufacturing plant. As the products produced by
Riches Good are different from those of the Group, the
Directors consider the impact of such similar business on
the Group is minimal.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, the
management shareholders or substantial shareholders of
the Company (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business which competes or may compete
with the business of the Group.

Auditors

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
Messrs. Patrick Ng & Company. Messrs. Patrick Ng &
Company retire and offer themselves for re-appointment in
name of NCN CPA Limited, which was incorporated to carry
on the office of Messrs. Patrick Ng & Company, as auditors.

On behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 5 March 2008
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

POLYARD PETROLEUM INTERNATIONAL GROUP
LIMITED

(formerly known as “Kanstar Environmental Paper Products
Holdings Limited”)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (formerly
known as “Kanstar Environmental Paper Products Holdings
Limited”) set out on pages 38 to 132, which comprise the
consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31
December 2007, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of the report.

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR

HEHAHEREEERATAZERR
(FIfE [ZERRAamERBER A A]])
(RAESEBEEFMEKLZBERAA)

AZEMOTEEREAOMERERS
RAR (R EZERREMERAR D
Al #NEBBEEF132H 2R A KR
xKOERERER_TTLEF+ A=
—BZBEARRAREEAEBR BEZ
BLEFEZHEANRGR  HAaRaZ
REGERERERNRTIESTHE
B2 E AP AR R o

ESHMBHRRAREZER

ERFESAREERBBEHNAE
B2 BAMBHREERREB(RA K
PDEBERE  BELEENQFHIIHR
ZEMBHRER - ZBEERERT - EiE
Rg#EEELREEM AT HRY B
BREB2AMER  UBRLEEAXN
AR (1w 2 S F HEF 388 R 5
) BEVERMAEE SRR RE
TRBRATELEAEZEHEE -

BREE 2 EE

AT ZBEERBREBEATERIEZSE
R HZREVYBBERREER - ARE
DEREZERRERLA  RTEEMA
& o AT ARARE 2 AT REME
ALTE EEREETRAREREE -



Independent Auditors’ Report % 3L #% B b R &

Except as described in the basis for qualified opinion
paragraphs, we conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

BRREBER CEBSZERAMES - KT
ERRELGAMAGHBEM B ER
BEAETERIE - ZFERRERN
TRAETERRATEARGTERETS
Zo NEEBELSMBRRES T
BEMERERRA -

ERBRETEF ARG RSB ®REA
HEBRLBRFHRAMCERERE - &
RzZERFARTRBM 2 HE 8
EAIAM B RR ZERFERRAL (TR 2
BRAGFe RS ) Z Rk - EIEH %
FRBFGE - BT EEQFRR
REBEMAFH2INHBREEMLA
MERE  URAETRBATEBEE 2
BZEF  BAFRY AR AR
ZEYUEFRERR - BERNBRENEE
EMRAZEBRZABEBERMEZ
GEAEZAEN  URFEMBHREK
ZEBRINTA -

RITHEE  ATTERGRIREZER
BE RATTZEGE R IRER -
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Independent Auditors’ Report % 3L #% B b R &

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Group’s share of results of associates as stated in the
consolidated income statement was determined for the
period from 1 January 2007 to 10 October 2007, being the
date when the associates became subsidiaries of the
Company. The figure included the share of results of a jointly
controlled entity of the associates in respect of the operation
of an oil project in Brunei (the “Oil Project”) up to 23 May
2007, being the date immediately before the operations of
the Oil Project were suspended and the operatorship of the
QOil Project was taken over by the holder of the mineral
rights pending the process of a restructuring exercise as
detailed in note 36. The holder of the mineral rights did not
provide any financial reports for accounting periods
subsequent to 23 May 2007. Accordingly, there were no
other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
satisfy ourselves that the Group’s share of results of
associates for the period from 1 January 2007 to 10 October
2007 amounted to a loss of HK$2.2 million was properly
stated and free from material misstatements.

Interests in the jointly controlled entity were initially
recognised on 10 October 2007. As the operations of the
Qil Project have been suspended and no financial reports
were provided by the holder of the mineral rights who took
over the operatorship of the Oil Project, there were no other
satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to satisfy
ourselves that the Group’s interests in jointly controlled entity
as at 31 December 2007 amounted to HK$3,143.8 million
were free from material misstatements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report % 3L #% B b R &

Qualified Opinion Arising from Limitation
of Audit Scope

In our opinion, except for the effects of such adjustments, if
any, as might have been determined to be necessary had
we been able to satisfy ourselves as to the Group’s share
of results of associates and interests in jointly controlled
entity, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2007 and of the Group’s profit
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In respect alone of the limitation on our work relating to the
Group’s share of results of associates and interests in jointly
controlled entity:

— we have not obtained all the information and
explanations that we considered necessary for the
purpose of our audit; and

— we were unable to determine whether proper books of
accounts had been kept.

PATRICK NG & COMPANY
Certified Public Accountants

20th Floor, Hong Kong Trade Centre
161-167 Des Voeux Road

Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

5 March 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement Sl & &

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ —EF

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Gain arising on business
combination

Loss on disposal of subsidiary

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative and other
operating expenses

Profit/(loss) from operations
Finance costs

Share of results of associates

Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax

Profit/(loss) for the year

Profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to:
Equity holders of the company
Minority interests

Earnings/(loss) per share
— Basic

— Diluted

Dividend

e

HERAR

EH

H Al A
EBEHEE 2 W

HEMBRRZER
B B S B X
TR R Bl 2 8 X2

reegar, (BE)
BE KA
e I E 4

BREADR R (B18)
g ®t

AEZEN, (EE)
EEAFEZEM,
(B18) -

AAFIBHEREEA
LEBRRES

FrOE N, (BE)
— &K

— #3

¥s)

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR

tFELZA=1T—HILFE

Notes
b aF

5(a)

5(b)

11

12

2007 2006
—EELHF —EERF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
50,378 43,295
(45,791) (38,321)
4,587 4,974
2,058 818
487,534 —
(3,283) —
(1,018) (1,807)
(9,860) (20,097)
480,018 (16,112)
(4,983) (1,0382)
(2,201) (1,284)
472,834 (18,428)
281 —
473,115 (18,428)
473,961 (18,428)
(846) —
473,115 (18,428)

9.56 centsfll

(0.43 centsfll)

9.55 centsll

N/AA &




Consolidated Balance Sheet &S EABE

As at 31 December 2007 R —EF+F+=-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments
Interests in associates
Interests in jointly controlled

entity

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank deposits

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank and other borrowings
Trade and other payables
Amount due to directors

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company
Minority interests

TOTAL EQUITY

ERBEE
Ve
B LS
N RN £
RARZES ERES

RBEE

Fa

JFE LA B K e EL fth B U R IR
Be RRITFER

REBAEE

RITREMEER

& < BiR 3R 2 EL At A5 5R0R
FEEERIA

RBEERE
REERRDAEE

FRBEE
A] 3 iR (& 55
EERIERE

FEE

MR K

[LEIN

fft 18

AR AP R e G HE 25
DR E S
R

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 5 March 2008.

KUAI Wei
Director

LIN Zhang
Director

2007 2006
—ETLE ZBTAE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B aF BT BT T
14 202 35,111
15 — 2,245
17 — 224,316
18 3,143,824 —
3,144,026 261,672
21 — 11,087
22 9,448 11,520
23 71,100 3,809
80,548 26,416
24 (133) (18,901)
25 (100,147) (12,672)
26 — (3,284)
(100,280) (34,857)
(19,732) (8,441)
3,124,294 253,231
27 (253,211) —
28 (3,479) —
(256,690) —
2,867,604 253,231
29 10,816 9,600
30 840,116 243,631
850,932 253,231
2,016,672 —
2,867,604 253,231

REZEN _TTN\F=_ARERER

RAETIED -

&z
EF

HE
EF
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Balance Sheet S E & B &

As at 31 December 2007 R —EF+F+=-A=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries

Amount due from subsidiaries

CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank deposits

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank and other borrowings
Trade and other payables
Amount due to director

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Convertible bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE

ME - BB R&E
RIB LR ZRE
P& Wit Bff 88 2 =) kIR

RBEE

JFE LA B K e EL ftb B U SR IR

B& RRITIFR

RBAE
RITREMEER

& 1 PR K e EL fth B A SR IR

e EERIA

REBAEFE
REERRDAR
FRBEE

A] R R (& 55
ERERERE

REE
BRA K e
LN
ff 18

mED

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 5 March 2008.

KUAI Wei
Director

LIN Zhang
Director
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ERARERKERRAF

“SEtLEEFEH

2007 2006
—ETLE —BEBAE

Notes HK$’°000 HK$°000
b aF BT T B F T
14 44 53
16 24,895 24,895
20 638,844 267,862
663,783 292,810

22 767 209
23 53 1,142
820 1,351
24 (133) (3,201)
25 (4,296) (206)
26 — (2,302)
(4,429) (5,709)
(3,609) (4,358)

660,174 288,452

27 (253,211) —
28 (3,479) —
(256,690) —

403,484 288,452

29 10,816 9,600
30 392,668 278,852
403,484 288,452

REFEN _ZTZT)\F=_FhHARER

RAETIED

Bl
EF

HE
EF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ff S 28R 41

For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

Re-

Share Share Special  valuation
capital ~ premium reserve reserve
Bk BBEE  BHRR  ERER
HK§'000  HKS$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
B¢ E¥Tr  EEfn EETR

Retained
Profits/
(acc- Convertible
umulated  Warrant bonds
Exchange losses) reserve reserve Minority

reserve REER/  RRER TERES Total interests Total
EiRE (RiER) B B A YURFER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS$'000
BEFT BEFn BETT EETn EEFn EETT O EETH

At 1 January 2006 K=F3/§-F-A 8,000 35,770 985 23,509 160 (13,246) - - 55,178 - 55,178
Issue of ordinary shares on acquisition R EEZ A FER

of interests in associates AETERR 1600 224,000 - - - - - — 225600 — 225600
Exchange differences arising from BEHNRERLEY

tranglation of foreign operations EREE - - - - (118) - - - (118) - (118)
Reversal of deferred tax liabilities upon ~ R EFEFE kA ER

revaluation of plant and equipment BEERHEAR - - - 8,151 - - - - 8,151 - 8,151
Reversal of surplus on revaluation of ~ REEEERZER

plant and equipment BERH - - - (31,660) - - - - (31,660) - (31,660)
Surplus on revaluation of buildings REEETRZER - - - 14,508 - - - - 14,508 - 14,508
Loss for the year REEEE - - - - - (18428) - — (18429 — (18428
At 31 December 2006 RZBERETZAZT-H 9600 259,770 985 14,508 2 (31674 - — 253281 - 253281
At 1 January 2007 KZZE+5-F-H 9,600 259,770 985 14,508 42 (31,674) - - 253,231 - 253,231
Issue of ordinary shares on exercise ~ FE/TFEREMETLER

of share options 150 - - - - - - - 150 - 150
Issue of warrants EOE - - - - - - 4423 - 4423 - 4423
Issue of ordinary shares on BE-BHBAER

acquisition of interests in a subsidiary ~ MHTEBR 1,066 100,204 - - - - - - 101,270 - 101,270
Issue of convertible bonds on BhE-BHBAAEEMEH

acquisition of interests in a subsidiary ~ TARES - - - - - - - 21,491 21,491 - 21,491
Deferred tax liability on issue of ETARER ELRERE

convertible bonds - - - - - - - (3,761) (3,761) - (3,761)
Release of exchange reserve on REE-BHERARREEN&E

disposal of a subsidiary - - - - (144) - - - (144) - (144)

Minority interests arising on acquisition ~ WE - BAFER

- - - - — 2017518 2,017,518

- 14508 - - - - -
311 - - - 31 - 311

473,961 - 473,961 (846) 473,115

of interests in a subsidiary EE2)8hRER - - - -
Transfer of surplus on revaluation of ~ RHEBEETEEEES

buildings on disposal - - - (14,508)
Exchange difference arising from HEHNEEEEVERZE - - - -

translation of foreign operations
Profit for the year REFET - - - -
At 31 December 2007 RZFT+E+ZA=1-A 10,816 359,974 985 -

209 456,795 4,423 17,730 850,932 2,016,672 2,867,604

Special reserve represents the difference between the paid
up capital of the previous holding company of the Group
acquired and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the group
reorganisation for the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Growth Enterprise Market in 2002.
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i Bl (e 18 1 U BB AN SR B DA R AR A )
ZHRBERNEARBEERRAROR =
EE_FHRAEREMETEREEER
RRBEBSTEMBTARABRMEEZZE
B e

ZZZTLESFE GHAHEERSERSREAT I



42 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement ff €& HKE X

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:

REX®B
B A A, (B 18)

e

Interest income FE WA

Interest expenses B X H

Gain arising on business (¥BeftEE 2 s
combination

Loss on disposal of subsidiary HENBARZEIE

Impairment loss on trade and & 45 B R K% EL Ath FE U
other receivables RIBEZREEE

Impairment loss on inventories FEZREESE

Decrease in revaluation EHRE

Depreciation e

Amortisation for prepaid TE A5 4t FH < H 6H

lease payments
Share of results of associates

iR RN 3

Operating (loss)/profit before LEESEHA 2
movements i (B8R R

in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 77 &8 4, (1&4n)

Increase in trade and FE U IR & B A
other receivables JFE Uit BR R A

(Decrease)/increase in trade and

other payables

Interest received on
bank deposits

Purchase of property, plant
and equipment

& 1< B 3R B EL At FE £
NG R il

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING K& 2K FMERL B
ACTIVITIES
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED

EWRITERAE

BEVE BELEE

Acquisition of subsidiary L B BT /8 A A
Disposal of subsidiary HEME QA
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ REEBF#E, (Fi%)
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES R& 5
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEETE
Proceeds from new bank IR IT NEMER
and other loans Z TS A

Proceeds from issue of
ordinary shares
Proceeds from issue of warrants

Interests paid 2 AT F &
Advance (to)/from directors (B8T)/ REEFERK
NET CASH GENERATED FROM ®EZEBMEBELFEHE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR

BT EBRZAEHR

BITRAEE 2 53R

For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

2007 2006
—ETLE —BEBAE

Notes HK$’°000 HK$°000
b aF BT T BT
472,834 (18,428)
(548) (5)

4,983 1,032

(487,534) —

3,283 —

— 4,556

— 239

— 10,771

1,121 1,776

37 47

2,201 1,284

(3,623) 1,272
3,130 (1,714)
(3,963) (5,560)

(27,312) 2,402
(31,768) (3,600)

548 5
(984) (1,419)

19 73,070 —
6 22,545 —
95,179 (1,414)

3,958 7,901

150 —

4,423 —
(3,372) (1,032)

(360) 2,646

4,799 9,515
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

2007 2006
—ETLEF —TERX
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it BT T BT T
NET INCREASE BeERBELEEY
IN CASH AND CASH ¥ hnE &8 68,210 4,501
EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS €2 RERBELZEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,809 863
Effect of foreign exchange INEEfE RS E) v B (1,052) (1,555)
rate changes
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS & v RERBELZEY
AT END OF THE YEAR 70,967 3,809
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES RERBEESSEWZEHIM
OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank deposits Be METER 23 71,100 3,809
Bank overdraft RITHEX 24 (133) —
70,967 3,809
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ —EF

1.

General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted Company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are the development,
manufacture and sale of pulp and paper products and
exploration of oil and natural gas.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs™)

In the current year, the Group has applied a number
of new standard, amendment and interpretations (“new
HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are
relevant to its operations and are effective for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007. The adoption of the new HKFRSs has no
significant effect on the Group’s accounting policies
and amounts reported for the current and prior
accounting periods in these financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised standards or interpretations that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The directors anticipate
that the application of these new and revised standards
or interpretations will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

tF+A=+—HIFFE
1.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

2. Application of New and Revised Hong 2. ERAHIREETEEY
Kong Financial Reporting Standards BREERL ([FBUBR

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued) HEA ) @)
HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of BEAGETER MBmE 2
Financial Statements* F15% (5350 1k
HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs* BEAGETER & B A
5235k (K& ET)
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments? BEAVBRE b
#E Bl %5 857
HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 — Group and &4 (BB 7% BEMBRE
Treasury Share mEREBZE®) ERFE2%
Transactions' —REZE1R 58K
7R 5
ZH
HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 Service Concession &7 (R Pl 75 4% & 4
Arrangements? mEREZEE) LH?
—R2EZ12%
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty &7 (R % BB
Programmes? mEREZEE) EEIS
— 2 EF135%
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 — The Limit on a &5 (BB % EBE LR
Defined Benefit Asset, BEREZES #1958
Minimum Funding —R2EBE145 —REREF
Requirements and their BEEZ
Interaction? MR &K
B EXK
EmEz
BB 1R?
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 ! RZTETLF=HA— AL UER
March 2007 B FEBBER
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZZEZNF-—HA A UER
January 2008 B FEBBER
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 8 RZZEZNFLA—AHUER
July 2008 B FEBBER
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 ¢ RZZETAF-—A—ALUER
January 2009 B FEBBER
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

3. 3. FEGHBE

Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
for certain property, plant and equipment, interests in
jointly controlled entity and financial instruments, which
are measured at revalued amounts or fair values.

A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (entities controlled by the Company).

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR
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Notes to the Financial Statements B4 7 #§ % I} &%

For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of Consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are identified separately from the
Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in the
net assets consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination
and the minority’s share of changes in equity
since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the
minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are
allocated against the interests of the Group
except to the extent that the minority has a
binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Business Combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for
using the purchase method. The cost of the
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations are recognised at their fair values
at the acquisition date, except for non-current
assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as

recognition wunder

held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, which are recognised and measured
at fair value less costs to sell.

(a)

(b)

REREEE (A

ESBEARS - &fF WA
KA iR A IR B R HE -

LEBRRERREZFENE
NEFEENKEAEANEH
ZREDFRED - DBARE
GG FEERRREEBE
HAEMzEZEE URAA
Bf B AR D BURR A5 2
g o LEBREBHEBREN
LHBRREEME RS Z
TREAEEERYE  ER
PHERAEANRNEERE
BRENELBEIMRE AR %
FEBRAERIN -

E R

WK B A RIE R BE A
SRR - WEERATRAEER
HRER AR U B X B R R T R KR
BAHMETEE  FELEX
PrEdE 2 B ERAEIT 2B
TRAZRAVRE  MEXBE
HZEERERATE - B
BRARZABEMNEE  BER
HRAE BEFEETEVBR
ETERANEIRXH A H] 2 &
ARG AREBERZAF
BRER - EREEEMBRE
RERIESSE [FIEL &2 I
BEERCHRIEBEXFIRS
BARIELEZERDEE
(HHEER) BRAFERBEE
PARER R ETERIRRIN -

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

ZZZTLESFE GHAHEERSERSREAT I

47



48 Notes to the Financial Statements Bt ¥ ik & M} 5

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
BHAHERKERRAT

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # = —
3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Business Combinations (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as
an asset and initially measured at cost, being
the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities after
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets,

liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the

recognised. If,

cost of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the
acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s
proportion of the net fair value of the assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the relevant subsidiary at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill arising on an acquisition of
an associate or a jointly controlled entity
respresents the excess of the cost of the
acquisition over the Group’s share of the relevant
associate’s or jointly controlled entity’s net assets
at the date of acquisition.

Capitalised goodwill is presented separately in

the consolidated balance sheet and is carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(c)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
arising from an acquisition is allocated to each
of the relevant cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an
associate or a jointly controlled entity, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

(c)
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BHAHERKERRAT

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # Z - FF

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Investments in Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the
Company. Control exists when the Company has
the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as
to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing
control, potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held
for sale.
Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint
control,
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

over its management, including

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which
operates under a contractual arrangement
between the Group and other parties, where the
contractual arrangement establishes that the
Group and one or more of the other parties share
joint control over the economic activity of the
entity.
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EELFE+-AS+—AUFE
Accounting Policies 3. FEEHBE®W

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # = —
3. Significant

(Continued)
(e) Investments in Associates and Jointly (e) REEATRLBEFERZ
Controlled Entities (Continued) RE (&)

An investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method and is initially recorded at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change
in the Group’s share of the associate’s or the
jointly controlled entity’s net assets, unless it is
classified as held for sale. The consolidated
income statement includes the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
associates and jointly controlled entities for the
year, including any impairment loss on goodwill
relating to the investment in associates and jointly
controlled entities recognised for the year.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the jointly controlled
entity, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or the jointly
controlled entity. For this purpose, the Group’s
interest in the associate or the jointly controlled
entity is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with the Group’s
long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or
the jointly controlled entity.
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BHAHERKERRAT

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # Z - FF

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(e)

()

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the associate or jointly controlled entity, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in
associates and jointly controlled entities are
stated at cost less impairment losses, unless it
is classified as held for sale.

Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the
sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal
group) is available for immediate sale in its
present condition.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of the assets’ (disposal groups’) previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Revenue Recognition

Income from sale of goods are recognised when
goods are delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are
provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
using the effective interest method.

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment
have been established.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
or valuation less subsequent depreciation and
impairment losses.

Buildings held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated balance
sheet at their revalued amounts, being the fair
value at the date of revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient
regularity such that the carrying amount does not
differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the balance sheet
date.
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BHAHERKERRAT

For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(h)

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation
of buildings is credited to the properties
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same
asset previously recognised as an expense, in
which case the increase is credited to the
consolidated income statement to the extent of
the decrease previously charged. A decrease in
net carrying amount arising on revaluation of an
asset is dealt with as an expense to the extent
that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the
properties revaluation reserve relating to a
previous revaluation of that asset. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset,
the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred
to retained profits.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or
fair value of items of property, plant and
equipment, after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives
commencing on the date of completion of
construction for the intended use, at the following
rates:

Property

Over the shorter of the
unexpired term of
lease or 30 years

— buildings situated
on leasehold land

Plant and equipment 3"3% to 20% per

annum

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated
over their expected useful lives on the same basis
as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of
the relevant lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(h)

()

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in the consolidated income statement in
the year in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is
capitalised if the product or process is technically
and commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes
the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment Other
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

losses. development

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated in the balance sheet at cost
less accumulated amortisation, where the
is finite,
accumulated impairment losses. Expenditure on

estimated useful life and any
internally generated goodwill and brands is
recognised as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred.
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BHAHERKERRAT

For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

()

()]

Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill)
(Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives.
Period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their
useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any
conclusion that the useful life of an intangible
asset is indefinite is reviewed annually to
determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life
assessment for that asset. If they do not, the
change in the useful life assessment from
indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively
from the date of change and in accordance with
the policy for amortisation of intangible assets
with finite lives as set out above.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all

the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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EELFE+-AS+—AUFE
Accounting Policies 3. FEEHBE®W

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # = —
3. Significant

(Continued)

()]

Leases (Continued)

Assets held under finance leases are recognised
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.
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Lease payments are apportioned between finance Rl 2B - MR E
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so ZE fﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ B E B

as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges
are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they
are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in
which case they are capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s general policy on borrowing
costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter
into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Interest in leasehold land is amortised over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.
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(k) Foreign Currencies (k) s
The individual financial statements of each group SEEER AN BRKY
entity are presented in the currency of the primary NZERBEEMEF ELBER
economic environment in which the entity Rz EB(HIEEE)5|E -
operates (its functional currency). For the purpose MEREMBHRENE  SEB
of the consolidated financial statements, the LB R B AR R 3G LA 5|

results and financial position of each entity are
expressed in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
functional currency of the Company and the
presentation currency for the consolidated
financial statements.

B BEDARBZYER
RiraMBHmERZEINEE -

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

ZZZTLESFE GHAHEERSERSREAT I



58 Notes to the Financial Statements Bt ¥ iR & M} 5

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
BHAHERKERRAT

For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(k)

Foreign Currencies (Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the
individual entities, transactions in currencies other
than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item
forms part of the Company’s net investment in a
foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in equity in the
consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in equity, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(k)

U]

Foreign Currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are expressed in
Hong Kong dollars using exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and
expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuated significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are included in the
exchange reserve as a separate component of
equity. Such exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on the acquisition of a
foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising are included in the
exchange reserve.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets, until the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short Term Employee Benefits and
Contributions to Defined Contribution
Retirement Plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year
in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Share-based Payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at grant date, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair value of
the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(m) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Share-based Payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative
fair value recognised in prior years is
included in profit or loss for the year of the
unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset,

review,

with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either
the option is exercised (when it is transferred
to the share premium account) or the option
expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when,
and only when, the Group demonstrably
commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan
which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.
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HHAKEREEFRAT —SStLtEFH

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(n) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the income statement because it
excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit, and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

3. FEEHHE #®)
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(n)

(o)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period when the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or
loss, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the

deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets
Other than Goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(o)

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets
Other than Goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under other standard, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as revaluation decrease

under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under other standard, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase under that standard.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
financial report prepared in compliance with
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting are not
reversed at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of
that financial year.
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3. FEETTHEHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(p) Inventories p) #FE
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and FEDEXARAIERFEZ
net realisable value. Cost comprises direct BEEVER - KABREEEM
materials and, where applicable, direct labour *4&(ZZH/-\ﬁ)ET%M§)Jﬁ5Z$&
costs and those overheads that have been FHEEEEZHERETEHE R
incurred in bringing the inventories to their EHEERRRES 2 HE
present location and condition. Cost is calculated B o B THER A i E
using the weighted average method. Net T o FIEERE g ET
realisable value represents the estimated selling EERB TR 2B HE KA
price in the ordinary course of business less all INRTSHRE  HERDHEB
estimated costs of completion and the estimated BHRTES ZEFTRA -
costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.

(q) Financial Instruments () MBIA
Financial assets and financial liabilities are EAEBESHEGVEBRIAEY
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet L\%’]B—ir ' Eﬁﬁﬁ?&@ﬁ&ﬁ%

when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(a)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses for bad and doubtful
debts except where the receivables are
interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial.
In such cases, the receivables are stated at
cost less any impairment losses for bad and
doubtful debts.

Investments

Investments are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis where
the purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market
concerned.

Investments which are non-derivatives with
fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has
the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity are classified as held-to-maturity
investments and are measured at
subsequent reporting dates at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method,
less any impairment losses recognised to
reflect irrecoverable amounts.

Investments held for trading are classified
as investments at fair value through profit
and loss and are measured at subsequent
reporting dates at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
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3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(a)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Investments (Continued)

Investments which are non-derivatives and
classified neither as held-to-maturity
investments nor investments at fair value
through profit and loss are classified as
available-for-sale investments and are
measured at subsequent reporting dates at
fair value. Changes in fair value are
recognised directly in equity, until the
investment is disposed of or is determined
to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in equity
is removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss. Impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss. For available-
for-sale equity investments, impairment
losses will not be reversed in profit and loss
in subsequent periods.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and other
short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.

Bank Borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts
are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the settlement or
redemption of borrowings is recognised over
the term of the borrowings in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(a)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v) Convertible Bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Company
that contain both the liability and conversion
option components are classified separately
into respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number
of the Company’s own equity instruments is
an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using the
prevailing market interest rate of similar non-
convertible debts. The difference between
the proceeds of the issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert
the loan notes into equity, is included in the
convertible bonds equity reserve as a
separate component of equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(a)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v) Convertible Bonds (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible bonds is
carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the
liability component into ordinary shares of
the Company, will remain in convertible
bonds equity reserve until the conversion
option is exercised (in which case the
balance stated in convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to share
premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the balance
stated in convertible bonds equity reserve
will be released to the retained profits. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of
the convertible bonds are allocated to the
liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the
liability component and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.
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3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(q) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(r) Financial

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Equity Instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.
Consideration paid to reacquire the
Company’s own equity instruments are
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Guarantees, Provisions and

Contingent Liabilities

(i)

Financial Guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(r) Financial

Guarantees, Provisions and

Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

(i)

Financial Guarantees (Continued)

Where the Group issues a financial
guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee
(being the transaction price, unless the fair
value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable for
the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit
or loss on initial recognition of any deferred
income.

The amount of the guarantee initially
recognised as deferred income is amortised
in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note
3(r)(iii) if and when (1) it becomes probable
that the holder of the guarantee will call
upon the Group under the guarantee, and
(2) the amount of that claim on the Group
is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in
respect of that guarantee, i.e. the amount
less accumulated

initially recognised

amortisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

3. FEEHHE #®)

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(r) Financial

Guarantees, Provisions and

Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Contingent Liabilities Acquired in
Business Combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part of a
business combination are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their
recognition at fair value, such contingent

initial

liabilities are recognised at the higher of
the amount initially recognised,
accumulated

less
amortisation where
appropriate, and the amount that would be
determined in accordance with note 3(r)(iii).
Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair
valued are disclosed in accordance with

note 3(r)(iii).

Other Provisions and Contingent
Liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present obligation as a result of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

“SEtLEEFEH

n MBREF BERIARER
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(ii)

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Financial Guarantees, Provisions and
Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

(iii) Other Provisions and Contingent
Liabilities (Continued)

Present obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability where it is not probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the
amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliably. Possible
obligation that arises from past events and
whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as a
contingent liability unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Related Parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group
if:

(i)  The party, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, (1) controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control
with, the Group; (2) has an interest in the
Group that gives it significant influence over
the Group; or (3) has joint control over the
Group;

(i) The party is an associate;

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ —EF

3. Significant

Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(s)

(t)

Related Parties (Continued)

(iii) The party is a jointly controlled entity;

(iv) The party is a member of the key
management personnel of the Group or its
parent;

(v) The party is a close member of the family
of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) The party is an entity that is controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by or for which significant voting power in
such entity resides, with directly or indirectly,
any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) The party is a post-employment benefit plan
which is for the benefit of employees of the
Group or of any entity that is a related party
of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those
family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that individual in
their dealings with the entity.

Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the
Group that is engaged either in providing products
or services (business segment), or in providing
products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different
from those of other segments.
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EELFE+-AS+—AUFE
Accounting Policies 3. FEEHBE®W

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # = —
3. Significant

(Continued)

(t)

Segment Reporting (Continued)

(t)

o EEE (&)

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial B IE AN B 2 1R 3 B 75 R 5 )
reporting system, the Group has chosen business B AEBEEEHEBLH I
segment information as the primary reporting ERERLEMBHRE L EE
format and geographical segment information as BEFN - WigHR o I E

the secondary reporting format for the purposes
of these financial statements.

ERREBHELA -

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and DEWE X EE - BE
liabilities include items directly attributable to a rEEREEEEERERN R —
segment as well as those that can be allocated DEAREEREBZRESRE
on a reasonable basis to that segment. For ZoE2ERB - flm - HEE
example, segment assets may include inventories, ERBERFE  BUERERERY
trade receivables and property, plant and ¥ BENEE - »E K=

equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets,
and liabilities are determined before intra-group
balances and intra-group transactions are
eliminated as part of the consolidation process,
except to the extent that such intra-group
balances and transactions are between group
entities within a single segment. Inter-segment
pricing is based on similar terms as those
available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost
incurred during the period to acquire segment
assets (both tangible and intangible) that are
expected to be used for more than one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and

corporate assets, interest-bearing loans,
borrowings, tax balances, corporate and financing

expenses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

4. Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates

(a)

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart
estimations as discussed below, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements.

from those involving

(i) Impairment of Assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired
or the event previously causing the
impairment no longer exists, the Group has
to exercise judgment in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may
effect the asset value or such event affecting
the asset value has not been in existence;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate Changing the
assumptions selected by management to

rate.

determine the level of impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 # = —

4. Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(a)

Judgments (Continued)

(ii)

Income Taxes

Deferred tax is provided using the liability
method, on all temporary differences at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for
unused tax losses carried forward to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised, based
on all available evidence. Recognition
primarily involves judgement regarding the
future performance of the particular legal
entity or tax group in which the deferred tax
asset has been recognised. A variety of
other factors are also evaluated in
considering whether there is convincing
evidence that it is probable that some
portion or all or the deferred tax assets will
ultimately be realised, such as the existence
of taxable temporary differences, tax
planning strategies and the periods in which
estimated tax losses can be utilised. The
carrying amount of deferred tax assets and
related financial models and budgets are
reviewed at each balance sheet date and to
the extent that there is insufficient
convincing evidence that sufficient taxable
profits will be available within the utilisation
periods to allow utilisation of the carry
forward tax losses, the asset balance will
be reduced and charged to the income
statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

4. Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(b)

Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at

the balance sheet date, that have a significant

risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the Group’s assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below.

(i)

(ii)

Impairment Test of Assets

The Group determines whether an asset is
impaired at least on an annual basis or
where an indication of impairment exists.
This requires an estimation of the value in
use of the asset. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the
assets and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.

Income Taxes

The Group reviews the carrying amount of
deferred tax assets at each balance sheet
date and reduces the amount to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
This requires an estimation of the future
taxable profits. Estimating the future taxable
profits requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future earnings
from the Group and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of the earnings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
4. Critical Accounting Judgments and 4. ERSTHE R @

Estimates (Continued)

(b) Estimation Uncertainty (Continued) (b) HEZTBEBRERE (&)

(iii) Depreciation of Property, Plant and (iii) W% BERREITE
Equipment

BEMBANAKBERK
REZEREEF A E

Property, plant
depreciated on a straight-line basis over

and equipment are

their estimated useful lives, after taking into

account of their estimated residual value.
The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involve management’s
estimation. The Group assesses annually the
residual value and the useful life of the
property, plant and equipment and if the

REMRFTE  -BEA
ERFHRRKEEY
REBEBZGT - A%
EEFFGENE  BE
RFxBzRBEEBERA
EARFH - P EH

expectation differs from the original ZTEEIE R L ZBE A

estimate, such a difference may impact the FrANE - BFZZ 58 7] 88

depreciation in the year when the estimate HEEREYH o FE

is changed and the future period. R AR RHARE 2 47 & 1 K
-2

5. Revenue 5. W=
(a) An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year (@) AEBRAFEZEEEIN
is as follows: UM

2007 2006
—ETLE  —TEAEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEMTF T
Sales of pulp and paper products $HE AR LA @ 50,378 43,295
(b) An analysis of the Group’s other income for the (by AEBERETFEZHMKAD

year is as follows: W
2007 2006
—ETLtFE —TEAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Bank interest income HRATRE YA 548 5
Net foreign exchange gain b 5 Y ) F 5 1,315 569
Sundry income TR A 195 244
2,058 818
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

6. Disposal of Subsidiary 6. HEME LT
The Group disposed of a wholly-owned subsidiary, FA - AEERE—H2ENBR
Yunnan Changning Kanstar Paper Company Limited, AEHEEREEREBRAA - I
during the year. An analysis of the financial effects EMEECMBZESTET ¢

arising on the disposal is as follows:

2007
—eBLF
HK$’°000
BT T
Net assets disposed of: FIHEZ RFEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 36,194
Prepaid lease payments TS 2,290
Inventories FE 7,957
Trade and other receivables JE Ui AR 3k B B M FE Y 3R 1B 17,410
Cash and bank deposits RERBITHER 3,455
Other short term loans Hi R EBER (7,258)
Trade and other payables JE F AR BRI B At JE < R IE (13,708)
Amount due to directors e EERIE (1,313)
45,027
Release of exchange reserve SN BE 75 5 B ) (144)
44,883
Total consideration, satisfied by: BRE  INAFAXAE:
Cash Be 26,000
Settlement of bank loans BEERTER 15,600
41,600
Loss on disposal HEEE 3,283
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: LEMEEZRESRAFE
Cash received B WK 26,000
Cash and bank disposit disposed of HECZRS RRITHER (3,455)
22,545

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
I D HAHERKERRAT —STEEFER



Notes to the Financial Statements B4 7 #§ % I} &%

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ = &

7. Finance Costs

Interest and charges on bank loans
and advances

Effective interest on convertible bonds

Interest on other loans and advances

8. Profit/(loss) Before Tax

Profit/(loss) before tax has been arrived at after

charging:

Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration)
— Salaries and other benefits
— Retirement scheme
contributions

Auditors’ remuneration
Amortisation of lease
payments for land
Depreciation
Revaluation decrease of plant
and equipment
Impairment loss on trade and
other receivables
Impairment loss on inventories
Carrying amount of inventories sold

Tt+FES_A=1T—HIFFE

7. BERA

2007 2006
—EELHF —EETREF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT

RITERMBRF B
&8 1,487 1,023
AR ESZBEF A 3,496 —
EHERMBRFE — 9
4,983 1,032

8. BRBAIGER A (FHE)

BBADEF, (B8 EMBRIATIER

H
2007 2006
—EFLF " FTITAF
HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BT
BEIRAK(BREEEMS)
— e REMBER 3,957 3,859
— RREHEI R
7 178
3,964 4,037
% SR B & 300 200
+ 3 FH & B 5
37 47
e 1,121 1,776
BB K& EERE
— 10,771
JE U BR 3R R E th IE U
FIBREEE — 4,556
FERERISE — 239
ENTFERAE 45,791 38,321
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

9. Income Tax 9. FTBH
2007 2006
—BTtE -TTAE
HKS$’000 HK$’000

EETFT  BEFT

Current tax: REAFRIA -

Hong Kong o — —

Other jurisdictions Hih e E#E R — —
Deferred tax IR AR I8 281 —
Income tax credit for the year REFFEMRER 281 —
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 17.5% (2006: BAENSH RN FEE MG ERT
17.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. wm M2 17.5% (= F T X F ¢
Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates 17.5%) 5T & - Afh el AR 2 HI1E
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. RRBEREER 2 BITHETTE -

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ —EF

9. Income Tax (Continued)

The total charge/(credit) for the year can
to the accounting profit/(loss) as follows:

Profit/(loss) before tax

Notional tax charge/(credit)
on profit/(loss) before tax,
calculated at the tax rates
applicable to profit in the
jurisdictions concerned

Tax effect on share of results
of associates

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax effect of non-taxable income
Tax effect of losses not deductible

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
not previously recognised

Income tax credit for the year

tFELZA=1T—HILFE

9. FBH »

be reconciled

B B AT Rl (E548)
%A A RARE R R A E
MR E ZRBLA

mH(BR) 2
FEWBAXL (ER)

) S PNGEY P
B Y

FANBEL BB E
BERBUNAZ BB L
FANBEEZHBRE

B A S5 BT R BER T IR
ERZRBEE

REZZREHRESR

REF@E S, (%) RS
R/ (B HENT -

2007 2006
—BBLF  FTERX

HK$’000 HK$'000
BYTF T BT T
473,115 (18,428)
83,030 (5,483)
385 225

915 5,231
(85,554) (13)
1,115 510
(172) (470)
(281) _

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

ZZZTLESFE GHAHEERSERSREAT I

83



84 Notes to the Financial Statements Bt ¥ 3§ % I} &%

For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 10. EEREEFHM

(i) Directors’ Emoluments (i) EEFM
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the EXFNgEIN T8 (=
12 (2006: 9) directors were as follows: TERF: NWB)EFZH
LU
2007 —EELHF

Salaries Retirement

and other scheme

Fees benefits contributions Total
HeR Rk

e Hit &R TEIHR @t

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
EEFRT EBEFRT BEFT BETT

Executive directors: Hrg%:
CHIM Kim Kiu, Jacky EaliE — — - —
IP Kai Cheung ES5= - - - -
SUN Tak Keung FEw - - - -
CHENG Kwok Hing, Andy | — — - —
KWOK Ching Chung FENR - - - -
KUAI Wei = — - - -
LIN Zhang mE - 33 - 33
Independent non-executive B JFH 1T
directors: i
CHAN Chi Hung, Anthony &k — — — -
WANG Ai Guo iy — — - —
WAN Hon Keung BER — — - -
WANG Yanhui ITEE - - — -
CHAN Kin Cheong BRig & — — — -

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 10. EEREEFMH =

(Continued)
(i) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (i) EZHFM (&)
2006 —EEXREF
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
He R RAK
ik HiEFl AR @it
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFIT BEFIT BEFTT BEFIT
Executive directors: HITESE
CHIM Kim Kiu, Jacky &4l - — — —
LI Gang ZHl — 145 - 145
IP Kai Cheung EmE — - - -
SUN Tak Keung FER — - - -
CHENG Kwok Hing, Andy ~ #JE & — — — —
KWOK Ching Chung BER — - - -
Independent non-executive B FEE 1T
directors: EE
CHAN Chi Hung, Anthony [ — - - -
WANG Ai Guo IE — - — -
WAN Hon Keung BE R — — — —

— 145 — 145

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

(Continued)

(ii) Of the 5 individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, none (2006: 1) was a director of
the Company. The emoluments of the 5 non-
director individuals (2006: 4) were as follows:

e kEAMER
RARET I 5K

Salaries and other benefits
Retirement scheme contributions

The emoluments of those 5 (2006: 4) non-director
individuals with the highest emoluments are within
the following bands:

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 #5072 % 11,000,000

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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(i)

10. EEREEHFMHN @

AEEREEEHFMALFRL
B(ZETRF —R)ARF
Ex-ARFEFAL(ZF
TRF W) ZHMT -

2007 2006
—BBLFE ZTETAA
HK$°000 HK$°000
BET T EETT
601 278

8 11

609 289

ZEAZR(CEZRF OB F
MExSIFEEALTZH N F
TFEE -

Number of individuals

A8
2007 2006
—E2LFE  “TER
5 4
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 # Z = F
11. Earnings/(loss) Per Share

The calculations of the basic and di

(loss) per share are based on the following data:

Earnings/(loss) for purpose of basic
earnings/(loss) per share (profit/(loss) fo
the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company)

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
— interest on convertible bonds (note (a))

Earnings/(loss) for the purpose of diluted
earnings/(loss) per share

Number of ordinary shares:
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January
Effect of ordinary shares issued

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares at 31 December used in the
calculation of basic earnings/(loss)
per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
— share options
— convertible bonds (note (a))

— warrants (note (b))

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares at 31 December used in the
calculation of diluted earnings/(loss)
per share

EtEFEf _H=+—HIFF
1. 8RERN 7 (H8)

FREAREERT (BB DR
BEIBEAE

luted earnings/

2007 2006
—EELHF —EREREF
HK$°000 HK$000
BYTTT BT T
RERERAER, (B8)
r (RFEERRARE
BEANEERT
(B1#8)) zmH,/ (E#8) 473,961 (18,428)
BEErLTRR o2
— AR EHFE (f: @) - —
HEREEER, (BB)
2w,/ (E18) 473,961 (18,428)
000 ‘000
TR TR
TREBRYE -
R—A—BzE#&TEREk 4,800,000 4,000,000
BOEBRzTE 160,222 243,288
SEBREAKER, (EBE)
AR+ —_RA=+—H
ZMEFH L EREE
4,960,222 4,243,288
BEgEsTRR o 2
— B E 497 153,023
— ABRRES (i) - —
— REEE (M (b)) - —
HESREEERN, (BB)
AR+ -B=+—8
ZMEFHEEREE
4,960,719 4,396,311
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z —FZF+F+_-_HA=+—HI FE

11. Earnings/(loss) Per Share (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on convertible
bonds is considered to be nil as the average market
price of ordinary shares during the period is below the
conversion price of the convertible bonds.

(b)  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on warrants
is considered to be nil as the average market price of
ordinary shares during the period is below the exercise
price of the warrants.

(c) The diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2006 has not been disclosed as the potential
shares arising from the exercise of the Company’s share
options would decrease the loss per share of the Group
for the year 2006, and is regarded as anti-dilutive.

12. Dividend

No dividend has been paid or proposed for the year
(2006: Nil).

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR

1. ERERN (BB @

12.

X

(a)

(b)

(c)

R E

l7

MR BAAEERZ FEmERR
A RE S 2 SLIRE - REEEE
EEBEEMREESZFZER
BRE -

E IR EBR 2 FIOmERR
RIREEZITEE  REEEE
a%%ﬁwk% FERER

o

NHI

BRITEAAFIEREEE ZE
EROERIEEBMR_ZTZT AN
FE2EREBEEMER AR H#
B BUEREHEE_TTAF
T A=+ —HBIEFEZERE
SEEIE -

R 2 3 R A 38 K A AR AT Bk

B (=

AN

i@i/\fﬁ E)
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
13. Business and Geographical Segments 13. XK Kt & 7 &

(a) Business Segments (a) EBKDI

2007 —EELF

The Group is currently organised into 2 major REBLRKSRMEFEER
business divisions — (1) development, DE— ()i E - REREE
manufacture and sale of pulp and paper products, BREED  UERQBER
and (2) exploration of oil and natural gas. There MR RAR - EiB o ML &
are no sales or other transactions between the HENHEMR S - WEXEBKD
business segments. These business divisions are B AEEREEETEHHE
the basis on which the Group reports its primary Bl Eit - BRZHWT

segment information as presented below:

Income Statement Wz 7

Development,

manufacture
and sale of
pulp and Exploration
paper of oil and
products natural gas Total
iR
HERHEE BRAER
RHRRER AR H)
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

EETT EETR BETR

Revenue g 50,378 - 50,378
Segment results DEEE 701 (1,173) (472)
Unallocated corporate income KA E M E WA 493,683
Unallocated corporate expenses &7 Bt (b % H % (13,193)
Finance costs BEKA (4,983)
Share of results of associates ~ [E{HEE & AR £ & (2,201)
Income tax FEH 281
Profit for the year RERET 473,115

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

13. Business and Geographical Segments
(Continued)

(a) Business Segments (Continued)

2007 (Continued)

Balance Sheet

13. ¥ R ED I (&)

(a) ¥BoEW(HE)
ZEEtF(H)

EERMEX

Development,

manufacture
and sale of
pulp and Exploration
paper of oil and
products natural gas Total
o -
HERHE BEAAK
RREH @ RAAR #st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFT BEFT BEFT
Assets: BE:
Segment assets DEEE 1,594 3,222,110 3,223,704
Unallocated corporate assets AOWBEEEE 870
Total assets BEE 3,224,574
Liabilities: BE&E
Segment liabilities DEEE 1,527 95,755 97,282
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOMEEERE 259,688
Total liabilities BEfE 356,970
Other Information E 4t FF
Development,
manufacture
and sale of
pulp and Exploration
paper of oil and
products natural gas Others Total
-
HERHE BERAHR
RERE R RAR Hity oy
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETFR BEFT BETT BETT
Capital expenditure BAMX 957 26 1 984
Depreciation ik 1,111 9 1 1,121

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

13. Business and Geographical Segments
(Continued)

(a)

Business Segments (Continued)

2006

The Group was principally engaged in the
development, manufacture and sale of pulp and
paper products without division(s) organised for

other business.

Income Statement

Revenue

Segment results
Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs
Share of results of

associates

Loss for the year

Y &

RAoEEERA
AOEEERX

EIEH S RREE

REEEE

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

13. ¥ X R ED I &)

(a) XBoW (&)

—_—==

—FEAF

4

AEEBETENEME S
ENEHERR LR WER
Htp A -

Development,
manufacture and
sale of pulp and

paper products
e
ERHEE
M 4
HK$’000
EBET T

43,295

(14,221)
576
(2,467)
(1,032)

(1,284)

(18,428)

tEFEE SHAHEREESRLT I
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

13. Business and Geographical Segments

(Continued)

13. ¥ X R ED I &)

Business Segments (Continued)

2006 (Continued)

Balance Sheet

Assets: BE
Segment assets DEWEE
Unallocated corporate assets ROMPEEE
Total assets BEE
Liabilities: BE:

Segment liabilities SHEE

Unallocated corporate liabilities RO ECEXEE
Total liabilities #waE

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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(a) XBo™W (&)

Development,
manufacture and
sale of pulp and

paper products
o
RENHE
MR A
HK$°000
BT

60,925
227,163
288,088

16,057

18,800

34,857
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
13. Business and Geographical Segments 13. ¥ R E DI @)

(Continued)
(a) Business Segments (Continued) (a) EXK5T (&)
2006 (Continued) ZEENE(E)
Other Information H & ¥
Development,
manufacture and
sale of pulp and
paper products Others Total
ot 2
MR KA EAb o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B FoT BEFT  EETIT
Capital expenditure B ARRY 1,413 6 1,419
Depreciation e 1,684 92 1,776
(b) Geographical Segments (b) ihEDEB
The Group’s 2 major business divisions are AEEMBEEEEBL DA™
operated in 2 principal geographical areas — (1) HExEBRELELE — (NP EA
the People’s Republic of China, including Hong REME (BEEFE&BEP -
Kong and Macau (the “PRC”), and (2) other Asia [FREL]) - BA R (2)H fhgh KEY
Pacific countries. These geographical areas are R lkEME N AEEREE
the basis on which the Group reports its REDEER 7 E it BR2
secondary segment information as presented R
below:
2007 —EELF
Segment Capital
Turnover assets expenditure
EEH TEHEE BEFXEX
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
BEFTT BEFT BEFTT
PRC da 50,378 80,750 984
Other Asia Pacific countries HithE KB R — 3,143,824 —

50,378 3,224,574 984

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
13. Business and Geographical Segments

13. ¥ R ED I &)

(Continued)
(b) Geographical Segments (Continued) (b) HESDIH (E)
2006 —EENF
Segment Capital
Turnover assets expenditure
EEE DHEBEE EBAMAX
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT EBEFT BETT
PRC da 43,295 288,088 1,419
Other Asia Pacific countries HipF KER — — _
43,295 288,088 1,419
14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. ¥ - BERKRE
The Group NE
Plant and Construction
Buildings equipment  in progress Total
BF BREREE EREIR @t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Cost or valuation: ARk (i 1B
At 1 January 2006 RZEERE
—RA—H 4,139 63,144 1,668 68,951
Additions NE — 665 754 1,419
Transfer 4] — 2,489 (2,489) —
Revaluation adjustments EfAE 13,695 (50,429) — (36,734)
Exchange adjustments [E 5 A% 166 1,242 67 1,475
At 31 December 2006 and R_ZTRF
1 January 2007 TZA=+—-8k
ZEERtE
—HA—H 18,000 17,111 — 35,111
Additions AE — 584 400 984
Acquired on business combination M EKA G EEA — 166 - 166
Disposals & (18,664) (18,171) (400) (37,235)
Exchange adjustments B i, 38 B 664 655 — 1,319
At 31 December 2007 R_ZT+F
TZA=t—-A — 345 - 345

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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FEF- A — AL EE
14. Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14. ¥ - BERSE @)

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ —EF

The Group (Continued)

FEME (E)

Plant and Construction

Buildings equipment  in progress Total
BF BERRB EEIR @
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFIT BEFIT BEFTT BEFIT
Comprising: B
At 31 December 2006 R-ZZERF
+-A=+-8
— cost — KA — — — —
— valuation 2006 — —TTREF
(EXE 18,000 17,111 - 35,111
18,000 17,111 — 35,111
At 31 December 2007 RZZTLF
+=ZRA=+-8
— cost — KA — 234 — 234
— valuation 2006 — ZZTRE
fhfE - 111 - 111
— 345 — 345
Depreciation and impairment: FrERRE
At 1 January 2006 RZEERE
—A—H 658 6,253 — 6,911
Provided for the year AEERE 125 1,651 — 1,776
Revaluation adjustments B (813) (7,998) — (8,811)
Exchange adjustments B i, 38 B 30 94 — 124
At 31 December 2006 and RZZTRF
1 January 2007 +ZA=+—H
RRZZTLF
—A—H — - — -
Provided for the year REFZRE 518 603 — 1,121
Acquired on business combination R EKAGEEA — 25 — 25
Written back on disposals REERED (525) (516) — (1,041)
Exchange adjustments X AE 7 31 - 38
At 31 December 2007 RZZETLF
+ZR=+—H - 143 — 143
Carrying amounts: REE:
At 31 December 2007 RZETLF
+-RA=+-8 - 202 — 202
At 31 December 2006 RZZTRF
+-RA=+—H 18,000 17,111 — 35,111

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14.

The Group (Continued)

The valuation of property, plant and equipment was
determined as follows:

M- - BERRE @
XEE (F)

ME BEREHBzZBEEEWD
T

Plant and
Buildings Equipment
B BERZE
HK$’000 HK$°000
BB T BEFT
As 31 December 2007 R=ZZZtE+=-A=+—H
Valuation 2006 made by the directors of RZZEZEAF+ZRA=1+—H
the Company on a continued existing HARBEEREE
use basis as at 31 December 2006 HERREEELY
ZEEREME — 111
As 31 December 2006 n= ~"E+ZA=t-H
Valuation 2006 made by B.I. Appraisals RZEERF+ZA
Limited, a firm of professional BEEHEMRDA
valuers, on an open market value for HR AR A RIRE
continued existing use basis as at aEAzZA Eﬁﬁﬁgi’i
31 December 2006 fE Z_ T NEM[E 18,000 17,000
Valuation 2006 made by the directors of RZZTERE+A
the Company on a continued existing BAR ﬁ%%?ﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ
use basis as at 31 December 2006 EREH  —_ZZ R EMHE — 111
18,000 17,111

The directors considered the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2007
were not significantly different from their fair value at
that date.

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14. ¥ - BERRE @

The Company KA T
Plant and
equipment
B &R E
HK$’000
BT T
Cost or valuation: B AN 3 fd 18 ¢
At 1 January 2006 RZZTEZERF—HA—AH 105
Additions NE 6
Revaluation adjustment BHAE (58)
At 31 December 2006 and 1 January 2007 RZEERNF+ZA=1+—8
ERZZEE+LF—H—H 53
Additions = 14
At 31 December 2007 R-_ZEZELtF+-_A=+—H 67
Comprising: B
At 31 December 2006 7‘54\:2—« /\¢+ A=+—H
— valuation 2006 — —ETRFMHE 53
At 31 December 2007 R_ZEELHF+_A=+—H
— cost — AR 53
— valuation 2006 — —TETRFMHE 14
67
Depreciation and impairment: ﬁ%&ﬁfﬁ
At 1 January 2006 RZEERF—H—H 37
Provided for the year $¢VT¥1§ 21
Revaluation adjustment EHFAE (58)
At 31 December 2006 and 1 January 2007 RZEE /\¢+ A=+—8
ERZZTE+LF—AH—H —
Provided for the year REE R 23
At 31 December 2007 RZEZLF+=-_A=1+—8H 23
Carrying amount: BRHEE :
At 31 December 2007 RZZEZE+F+-_A=+—H 44
At 31 December 2006 R-ZZEEXRF+_A=+—H 53
The valuation 2006 was made by the directors of the TEERFHERZEERNF+Z
Company on a continued existing use basis as at 31 A _‘f’ HREARGESLFER
December 2006. ERGEEHET -
The directors considered the carrying amount of EERR VE - BEERERZ
property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2007 EELFT_A=+T—RHAZEEE
was not significantly different from its fair value at that HEAZATEITERERES -
date.

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

15. Prepaid Lease Payments 15. B LA E

Prepaid lease payments comprise:

Land held under medium-term lease REFREBAEOE

outside Hong Kong in the People’s FEAREMEEE
Republic of China: AN R B 2 T i
At beginning of the year (note (a)) REH) (H 7t (a)
Amortised during the year F A
Exchange adjustments HE 5, 8
Disposals &
At end of the year NG S

Note:

(a) In 2006, adjustment was made, in order to comply with
the Group’s accounting policies to recognise the cost
of interest in leasehold land in the year of
commencement of lease and the amortisation over the
lease term, to restate the amortised cost of prepaid
lease payments as at 1 January 2006 to HK$2,206,000
in respect of the interest in leasehold land in the
People’s Republic of China acquired by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, Yunnan Changning Kanstar
Paper Company Limited, in December 2002 for a term
of 30 years at a consideration of RMB2,440,330 but
the cost of acquisition had not been recognised and
amortised until 2005 when the cost was paid although
the lease was operating since December 2002.

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007

BHAHERKERRAT —SSEEFHR

TRt e B
The Group
rEH
2007 2006
—BEELF  —TERF
HK$°000 HK$'000

EBEFT BT T

2,245 2,206
(37) (47)

82 86
(2,290) —
— 2,245

Hiit -

(a)

RZZTERE AERAEEME
R A A & E 7R pA HE B
NEEK A2 EEBER - AEH
EHAE BT F—A—
BzBANTHESEEKARETD
A7 152,206,000T © ZEEBINE
BARARIZ2EMBRARERS
EREREBERAFANR_ZTEZ
F+ = AR E ARE2,440,330
TRTEARPEARANE A
0FrHELHERE - REMAY
BT -_F+-_ARER K
WHERAEE_ZTZTRFHES
- WHETR T IARER R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

16. Investments in Subsidiaries

Unlisted shares, at cost

Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2007, which materially affected the Group’s results or

net assets, are set out in note 39.

17. Interests in Associates

Share of net assets
of associates (note (a))
Goodwill arising on acquisition
of associates (note (b))

16. REMIB AR ZKRE

The Company

P NN
2007 2006
—BBLE ZEEX
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
ELEMR G - KA 24,895 24,895
R-_FEE+E+-_A=+—H ¥
REB ZEERFEEEAENY
27 FTBHE QT ZF1BET K
5¥39 °
17. REEE QTR
The Group
TEE
2007 2006
—BBtE —FITRAE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BEF T
JEIREEE QB FEE
(K&t (a) — 382
U BB 2 N B E A 2 R
(K&t (b)) — 223,934
— 224,316

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ —EF

17. Interests in Associates (Continued)

tF+A=+—HIFFE

17. REtE N R (&)

Place of Attributable

incorporation/ Registered equity interest
Name operation Capital of the Group Principal activities

i/ P15
£ BB & A rEEk#E TEXH

2007 2006
“ETtE ZETTNRF

Polyard Petroleum Macau MOP10,000,000 50%(#) 20% Investment holding
International B 10,000,000}2 9 & EREE
Company Limited
BREAHERERAAF
Chinaoil USA Macau MOP10,000,000 35%(#) 14% Exploration of oil and
(Macao) Company B 10,000,000 P9 7T gas
Limited BRABRRR
mEKA A RER (RF)
BRAA
(#): It became a subsidiary of the Company on 10 October #): RZZETZEFTATHRALRA

2007 (note (c))

Notes:

(a)

Share of net assets/(liabilities) of associates

At 1 January 2006
Acquisition of 20% interests in associates
Share of results of associates for the year (note (d))

Share of net assets of associates
at 31 December 2006

At 1 January 2007
Share of results of associates for the period
from 1 January 2007 to 10 October 2007 (note (d))

Share of net liabilities of associates at 10 October 2007

Recognised as cost of business combination
at 10 October 2007 (note 19)

At 31 December 2007

“SEtLEEFEH

Az M BAR (A5 ()
Hist

(a) EHHEARBEE (AR

HK$°000
BT T
RZEZRF—HA—H —
g BE B 4 1 1 20% 18 25 1,666
REEEMGEBEDRIEE (K (d) (1,284)
R-_ETZXFE+-_A=1+—H
fElGE L N T BEE 382
R-FTLF—A—H 382
—EE+LHE—-—A—BZ%
—EZLE+ A+ BHE
AL E RAIEE (M5 (d) (2,201)
R-ZEZ+F+A+H
R ENRFEE (1,819)
R-ZZZ+F+A+H
BRAEEBAFRA (MiF19) 1,819

R-ETLFE+-A=1—R —

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
17. Interests in Associates (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Goodwill arising on acquisition of associates

At 1 January 2006
Acquisition of 20% interests in associates

At 31 December 2006

At 1 January 2007
Recognised as cost of business combination
at 10 October 2007 (note 19)

At 31 December 2007

On 10 October 2007, Modern Lucky International
Limited (“Modern Lucky”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, acquired from the Mr. Lam Nam (“Mr.
Lam”) (a substantial shareholder of the Company) a
further 30% of the equity interest in Polyard Petroleum
International Company Limited (“Polyard Macau”). Then
Modern Lucky, after taking into account the 20% of the
equity interest in Polyard Macau acquired in the
previous acquisition in September 2006, was
beneficially interested in 50% of Polyard Macau and
Polyard Macau become a subsidiary of the Company.

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

17. REt&E ARl ER (8)
Bt o (48)

(b) UWBEHMEQAAELZHE

HK$’000

BT

RZZEERF—HF—H —

Uy BE B 2 D ) 20% 4 25 223,934

R-ZEERE+-_A=+—H 223,934

R-ZZEZE+F—HF—H 223,934
R-_ZZ+F+A+AH

BRBEBA KA (K5F19) (223,934)

RoEFLE+-A=+—A —

(c) W=—ZTZLF+A+H ARA
Z2EMBARNERBAKRER
AE([FEB]) MARFRZEE
BERMEEE (THEE]) WER
BAOmEREAERAR([HHR
FY)) 2 #E5N30% A% #E - iE [ SE Al
RZTERFNARE BT RRM
Z20% K EBREREEA
HRPFI 2 50%H# & > M B MR
RARERRBZHBRF -

ZZZTLESFE GHAHEERSERSREAT I
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z —FZF+F+_-_HA=+—HI FE

17. Interests in Associates (Continued) 17. REEE N RER (8)
Notes: (Continued) HiaE - (&)
(d) The summarized financial information in respect of the (d) AEEEGEHRMESEERE
Group’s share of results of Polyard Macau Group as ERAZEBEHINNT

associates are set out below:

HK$’000
B F T
2006 —EERF
Turnover R —
Loss for the year RFEEEIE (10,039)
Loss attributable to the Group from BT FNhA + —H
12 September 2006 (date of acquisition) to (WEHBR)Z_ZTRF
31 December 2006 +=—A=+—8H
AEBEEMEER (1,284)
2007 —ETAF
Turnover R —
Loss of the year RFEEEIE (10,072)
Loss attributable to the Group from BT LtF—HA—HZ
1 January 2007 to 10 October 2007 —ETEF+ATH
(date of business combination) ((B&0BEH)
REBELEIE (2,201)

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E

18.

19.

Interests in Jointly Controlled Entity

Joint venture (note (a)) aEE (Mit(a)

Notes:

(a) The interests in jointly controlled entity, which were
recognised on a business combination at 10 October
2007 (note 19), represented a 60% participating interest
in a consortium formed by an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary, Chinaoil USA (Macao) Company Limited,
with two independent venturers for the operation of a
production sharing agreement in respect of a project
for the exploration of oil and natural gas in Brunei (the
“Oil Project”).

(b)  No share of results of the jointly controlled entity was
recognised after initial recognition on 10 October 2007
while the operations of the Oil Project have been
suspended and the operatorship of the Oil Project has
been taken over by the holder of the mineral rights
pending the process of a restructuring exercise as
detailed in note 36.

(c)  The valuation of the Oil Projection as at 31 December
2007 was US$776,123,000, as per a valuation prepared
by Greater China Appraisal Limited, a firm of
professional valuers, of which approximately
US$465,673,800 (approximately HK$3,632,255,640)
was attributable to the interests held by the Group.

Business Combination

On 10 October 2007, Modern Lucky International
Limited (“Modern Lucky”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, acquired a further 30% of the equity
interest in Polyard Petroleum International Company
Limited (“Polyard Macau”) at a total consideration of
HK$468,232,231, satisfied by ordinary shares at a total
amount of HK$191,880,000 and convertible bonds at
a total amount of HK$276,352,231 issued by the
Company.
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18. REEEHERBES

The Group
A%
2007 2006
—ETLF —TEAF
HK$’000 HK$°000

YT BT T

3,143,824 —

EE

(a) RERZHIZEERZ IR _ZZT
tF+ATRETEBLE O (W
19) B HER - BHEIIEZ2ENBA
AP BB AAMER CRM) AR
ARIEMEBIEGEIREER
BRSO EA R RXAREE
(MEBEE D 2EEES HEA
BB B 2 60% 2 B RS o

(b) R-FEFLETATRNSER
I R A R E
o MAMERZEEEE A
I 2 D R E A
BAIE - AR (TI 5 36RT 5
nrEEEH -

() REFEXGHEMTEEFIERR
REIFMmREZEE  ABEER
TERLFT A=+ B2
£ /776,123,000 7T » H A 4
465,673,800 . (4 B ¥
3,632,255,6407L) 5 /& i AN & @
FiT# fE s o

19. ¥£% 4 6f

RZZZ+F+A+TH AQAEZ
FENBARMEBBREAERAF
(IFERDWESBHABEERER
AR ([BHEEF]) FEIN30%RE -
AR (B AER468,232,2317T © LA
N E|EEITHAREE 191,880,000
I K 485875 276,352,231 7T Al #A
fREHZAT -
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FEF A AL EE
19. Business Combination (Continued) 19. ¥ 56t &)

For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ — £ F

Together with the 20% of the equity interest in Polyard
Macau previously acquired by Modern Lucky in
September 2006, Modern Lucky was beneficially

BRFEBEMNN _ZTERFNA
WiE B HIRPI 2 20%0% 7 - #TiE @
BERlEABRRMZ250% s @ M

interested in 50% of Polyard Macau and Polyard Macau BHR-ZZEZTLF+A+H Wﬁ%zli
become a subsidiary of the Company on 10 October RAZMWBLARE - WER-_ZTZTt

2007. The acquisition was accounted for as a business
combination at 10 October 2007 and measured as

F+A+H J\EE??IH%%%GH B8
(I N

follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount
before Fair value
combination adjustment Fair value
R IE
d - N
ZHRHEE AFERE AEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT EBEFT BETT
Net assets acquired: PR 2 FEE -
Property, plant and equipment %% B & & 141 — 141
Interests in jointly controlled entity REREHEEER 32,132 3,111,692 3,143,824
Trade and other receivables JE W BR R %
H fth & U 51 I8 7,678 — 7,678
Amount due from related parties JE Eﬁ@ﬁm& 300 — 300
Amount due from shareholders JiE W iR 3R SR IR 3,398 — 3,398
Cash and bank deposits Be MR TTT_/TA 73,070 — 73,070
Trade and other payables JE T RR R R
H b & < 3RIB (17,722) — (17,722)
Amount due to related parties FE S B3 7 R (81,675) — (81,675)
Amount due to shareholders P& Hx%mlﬁ (27,486) — (27,486)
(10,164) 3,111,692 3,101,528
Fair value of acquiree’s net assets DBUIR R B
attributable to minority interests G /Nl o
FEAENTE (2,017,518)
Fair value of net assets attributable /NI g R
to interests acquired by the Company FERFEE
NEE 1,084,010
Total cost on business combination EBEREAN
(note (a)) (K17t (a)) (596,476)
Gain arising on business combination ¥ A& HESE Z K 487,534
Net cash inflow arising on business XBaEEZ
combination: RemAFE :
Cash and bank deposits Be METER 73,070

“SEtLEEFEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

19. Business Combination (Continued) 19. ¥4 6t &)
Note: HiaE
(a) Total cost on business combination was determined as (a) EXBAEHEKEAEENT:
follows:
HK$’000
BT T
20% of the equity interest in Polyard Macau FE R 2 B HIRPI20%
previously acquired i 4
— share of net liabilities — EHFAE (1,819)
— goodwill — BB 223,934
30% of the equity interest in Polyard Macau #— S 2 B HEM30%
further acquired i 4
— fair value of ordinary shares issued — BOEBRR2ATE 101,270
— fair value of convertible bonds issued — BOAMRESFZATE 273,091
596,476
20. Amount due from Subsidiaries 20. FE UL 8 2 Bl R IE
The Company
¥ NN
2007 2006
—EBELHF —EER
HK$’000 HK$’000

YT BT T

Amount due from subsidiaries = NGIE ] 638,844 267,862
The amount is unsecured and non-interest bearing. IREAEREARES - AQAH
The Company will not demand repayment within 1 year TEERNEEBB —FARNER -
after the balance sheet date and the amount is WL RIBR BERIERBEE -

therefore classified as a non-current asset.

21. Inventories 21. B8
The Group
rE

2007 2006
—ETtHE ZEEXREF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T B FT
Raw materials R M # — 6,386
Semi-finished goods F BB m — 1,247
Finished goods X — 3,454

— 11,087

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
22. Trade and Other Receivables

The Group has a policy of allowing average credit
period ranging from 2 weeks to 1 month to its trade
customers. In additions, for certain customers with
long-established relationship and good past repayment
histories, a longer credit period may be granted.

An aged analysis of trade
receivables is as follows:

0 — 30 days
31 — 60 days
61 — 90 days
91 — 120 days

Over 120 days

Other debtors, deposits
and prepayments

Amount due from subsidiary’s
shareholders

22.

FE U Bk 3% 32 HL Ath BB WK IR

AEBEZBRBETEEZERN
TMBEZ—EAZFHLEMY - 1
Sh BETERMEARE  LER
HBREERCHRIER  AEER
ZRERE -

The Group The Company
rEHE b
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EZtHE —ZTER —EEEFE ZEER
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BT BETT BT T
FEU IR 3R 2 BR B
DIWME
0Z£30K 5,749 3,141 - —
31E60K — — — —
61E90K — 58 — —
91E120K — — — —
#120K — 4 - —
5,749 3,203 — —
H A U IR -
Be REARE 786 8,317 767 209
& U2 S 8 2 )
% 5 FIE 2,913 — - —
9,448 11,520 767 209

The amounts due from subsidiary’s shareholders are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of

payment.

23. Cash and Bank Deposits

Deposits with banks and other

financial institutions
Deposits with bank — pledged
Cash in hand

JE L B B 2 R AR BRGR IR /S AR
% B KR E TR K

o

23. RERB|ITERK
The Group The Company
KEE KAF
2007 2006 2007 2006
TEELE —ZTERE ZEELE —ZTTERE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT BT T BT
RITREAM

R R 21,149 3,686 52 1,130
RITHFER —EHA 49,950 — — —
FERS 1 123 1 12
71,100 3,809 53 1,142

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

23. Cash and Bank Deposits (Continued) 23. BERBITER &)
Included in cash and bank deposits in the balance THFABEBER 2B RIRTT
sheet are the following amounts denominated in a FRIVIRERE 2 B E B AN
currency other than the functional currency of the entity L EBEE

to which they relate:

The Group
rEHE
2007 2006
—EELHF —EERF
Fr T
‘000 ‘000

Macao Pataca pll MOP® Fg ¥ 73,128 MOP;® Fq # —
Renminbi AR RMBA K %37 RMBA R #1,340

24. Bank and Other Borrowings 2. RATRHEHMEBE

The Group The Company
rEE VNN
2007 2006 2007 2006
—EELE ZTTRE ZEELE ZITTRHF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BETFT BETFT BT

Bank loans — secured BITER — BHEIHF — 16,901 — 3,201
Other loans — secured Hih B — B — 2,000 — —
— 18,901 — 3,201

Bank overdraft BITHE X 133 — 133 —
133 18,901 133 3,201

ig
4
i3

ERBITMGHERGTR -

The borrowings bore interest at prevailing market rates.

The Group’s bank loans were revolving loans repayable REEBZRTEFABBRER - 1
not exceeding 90 days at the time of drawing. JAEIRIE T IEBRIORANEE

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

25. Trade and Other Payables 25. BRI H fth B4 K IE
The Group The Company
r&EE XAF
2007 2006 2007 2006
SEELE —TEAF -BVLE CTIAF

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT  EETT  EETR  BETT

An aged analysis of trade JERT R BR B0
payables is as follows: DT
0 — 30 days 0230k 450 1,221 — —
31 — 60 days 31£60X — 2,406 —_ —
61 — 90 days 61290k —_ 352 —_ —
91 — 120 days 91£ 120K — — — —
Over 120 days #120K — 3,263 — —
450 7,242 — —
Other creditors and HERNFIER
accrued charges FERH & M 19,288 5,430 2,323 206
Amount due to related parties  JE{ B & 77 A 51,311 — — —
Amount due to subsidiary’s FEATHT B 2 A)
shareholders & e 27,487 — — —
Amount due to shareholder J& - % /IR 1,611 — 1,973 —
100,147 12,672 4,296 206
The amounts due to related parties, subsidiary’s JERTRAET  MEBARRR R —H
shareholders and shareholder are unsecured, interest- BRE2FIBBAEER  R2ERER
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. EERE -
26. Amount due to Directors 26. BN ESNIE
The amount due to directors is unsecured, interest- ERNESHELAEHRF 2ERE
free and has no fixed term of repayment. BlEERD o
27. Convertible Bonds 27. AR EH
The convertible bonds at an interest rate of 3% per RFENEI%RE ARG 2 RRKRES
annum accrued on a day to day basis (the “Convertible (TRESF) R LF T+ A
Bonds”) were issued on 10 October 2007 to Mr. Lam + HIZEE 5 #276,352,231 708 1T
Nam (the “Bondholder”) at a nominal value of FTHEEE(EHEFEBAL) @ BH
HK$276,352,231 for a term of 36 months. 361E A -

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ —E LT+ F+ A =+—HIF&E
27. Convertible Bonds (Continued) 27. AR ESF @)

The Bondholder may at any business day after the
date of issue of the Convertible Bonds convert the
whole or any part at an amount in an integral multiple
of HK$100,000 of the principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds into ordinary shares of HK$0.002
each in the share capital of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.43 per conversion share.

The fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Bonds was measured using a market
interest rate of approximately 6.25% for an equivalent
non-convertible bond; the remaining balance
represented the equity conversion component, is
included in shareholders’ equity under convertible
bonds reserve.

The Group and the Company

At 1 January 2007 S

Liability component of the Convertible Bonds issued
Interest charged
Interest paid

At 31 December 2007

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

BEAEFBEATRBITAIRRESA
HMeAmMeXARlnmkEsre
BEAEHA100,000 2 TR EH 22
B RIAVMEBESREBRRMDBE
043TL R EEHEME N AEAA
AR A B EEER0.0027T 2
g o

ABMEESFRERN 2 A FETIR
RAREFABBESFZ TS XL
6.25%:T 8 ¢ BRER IR HE o L R B
Do RE AR IR R AE I e 0 2 R

FEERARDF
HK$°000
BT T
—TELF—-HF—H —
BT BRREFABN N 251,600
BB A B 3,496
B F 8 (1,885)
R-BZLHE+-A=+—H

253,211
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

28. Deferred Taxation

i SE B 1R

The Group’s major deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
recognised and movements thereon during the current
and prior years are summarized below:

The Group

At 1 January 2006
H
Credit to equity for the year ARNFEt A#H

At 31 December 2006 and BT RF

1 January 2007 +=—RBA=+—H
LR ZZEELF
—A—H
Charge to equity for the year ZAEFH% B # %
Credit to profit and loss KEEFABEZE
for the year
At 31 December 2007 R_TZLF
+=-A=+—H

The Group has no significant deferred tax assets or
liabilities not recognised at the balance sheet date.

AEERAFERBEFEER
EAEERERRE (BE) RES
BT

A%

Revaluation
of plant and Convertible

equipment bonds Total
B = K&

REEM TBRRES mE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

BT BT BETFT

8,151 — 8,151

(8,151) — (8,151)

— 3,761 3,761

— (282) (282)

— 3,479 3,479

REER  AEETEREREKR
EREFRAEEEREIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

28. Deferred Taxation (Continued) 28. FEERLE (©)
The Company ¥ NN
Convertible
bonds
AR ES
HK$’000
BT T
At 1 January 2006 RZEEXF—A—H —
Charge/(credit) to equity for the year ZAEENBR B~ (Gt A) % —
At 31 December 2006 and RZEZERF
1 January 2007 +-—A=+—H
FPR_ZTTLF
—A—8H _
Charge to equity for the year RFEENMRBE#ER 3,761
Credit to profit and loss for the year REFFAER (282)
At 31 December 2007 R_ZEZLF+-_A=+—H 3,479
The Company has no significant deferred tax assets REER  ARRWEREREKN
or liabilities not recognised at the balance sheet date. ELEHIEEENAE -

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

29. Share Capital

Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each Z R EEEE
0.0027T 7 L@k
— At beginning and end —RENREER
of the year
Issued and fully paid: BERITRER :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each &M E &5 %
0.00270 2 & 8
— At beginning of the year — REF)
— Shares issued on exercise —REAEER
of options EmET
B
— Shares issued on acquisition — Al
of interests in associates/ NSV
subsidiaries NRIERM
BIIRMG
— At end of the year — RER

29. R
Number of shares Amount
BR7EE ¢ 8

2007 2006 2007 2006
—BRLE  -BERF  CRRLE  CEFERF
000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$°000
Fhie Fiz BETT BETT
10,000,000 10,000,000 20,000 20,000
4,800,000 4,000,000 9,600 8,000
75,000 — 150 —
533,000 800,000 1,066 1,600
5,408,000 4,800,000 10,816 9,600

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

30. Reserves 30. &
The Group RE
Retained
profits
(accumulated
Share Special  Revaluation  Exchange losses) Warrants~ Convertiole
premium feseve feseve s RERR), feserve  bonds reserve Totel
RHEE  GHRE  EGEE  EERE  (ZHER) IREZRE TRRESRE it
HKS 000 HKS$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$000
AT BRI A BB BT A AE
At 1 January 2006 HZEENE-A-H 3,770 %5 23,509 160 (13,246) - - 47178
Issug of ordinary Shares on RWERS ks
aoquistion of nferests in associates MEnEdER 24000 - - - - - — 24000
Exchange diferences arising on BEHNREREL,
translaton of forsign operafions EizE - - - (118) - - - (119)
Reversal of defered tax ibities on RERBRRRERRD
tevaluation of plant and equipment Eltiasg - - 8,150 - - - - 8,151
Reversal of surplus on revaluation of REERERAER
plant and equipment #mnzg - - (31,660) - - - - (31,660)
Surplus on revaluation of buldings RERETHRZES - - 14,508 - - - - 14,508
Loss forthe year TEEES - - - - (184 - - (184
At 31 December 2006 RIESRETZACT-R 259,770 95 14,508 0o e - -
A1 January 2007 RoEEr5-A-B 29710 W 1508 o B - N TIX
Issue of warrants hanes - - - - - 442 - 4423
Issuance of ordinary shares on RHEHELT
aoquisiton of nterests in subsidaries EanEEaR 100,204 - - - - - - 1000
Issuance of converle bonds on e
acquistion of inerests n subsidiares [EGEE - - - - - - 21 491 21,491
Deferred tax liabltes on issue of TERERZ
converble bonds EEfERE - - - - - - (3761) (3,761)
Release o exchange reserve on HEWBATZ
disposal of subsidary EXERAE - - - (144 - - - (144
Transfer o surplus on revaluation e HERRE
of plant and equipment on disposel E 2 - - (450 - 14508 - - -
Exchange diferences arising on AEYNEER
transafion of foreign operations EEENER - - - kil - - - 3
Profit for th year FERRT - - - - 3t - - A%
At 31 December 2007 ik £ 33 om0 359974 95 - 09 456,795 442 170 840,116
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 # £ —

EELE LAt —AILEE

30. Reserves (Continued) 30. @& (@)
The Company KA T
Share  Accumulated Warrants ~ Convertible
premium losses reserve bonds reserve Total
ARER TRE
B EE ZitER 1] BH R aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETTL BETT BETTL BEFT
At 1 January 2006 W-ZEAE-F-H 60,650 (4,062) - - 56,588
Issue of ordinary shares on ~ FEUUEE R & ARl
acquisition of interests BILAR
in associates 224,000 — - — 224,000
Loss for the year TEEER - (1,736) - - (1,736)
At 31 December 2006 RZZERE
+-A=+-H 284,650 (5,798) - - 278,852
At 1 January 2007 N-EZ+F-A—-H 284,650 (5,798) — — 278,852
Issue of warrants FRRER - — 4,423 - 4,423
Issue of ordinary shares on ~ EUEEH B2 7
acquisition of interests EamEnEek
in subsidiaries 100,204 — — — 100,204
Issue of convertible bonds on  FEUUEE N B A FliE %
acquisition of interests mETATRRES
in subsidiaries — — — 21,491 21,491
Deferred tax liabilities on BUARES
issue of convertible bonds ~ EILFHEEE — - - (3,761) (3,761)
Loss for the year TEEES - (8,541) - — (8,541)
At 31 December 2007 R-ZE+FE+-A=F+—H 384,854 (14,339) 4,423 17,730 392,668

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of
the Cayman Islands,
Company is available for paying distributions or
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of

the share premium of the

its Memorandum or Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution or
dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. At the
balance sheet date, in the opinion of the directors, the
Company’s reserves available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$370,515,000 (2006: HK$278,852,000).

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF

31. Share Option Schemes BB RS E

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 June
2002 for the purpose of providing incentives to the
directors and eligible participants, under which the
Company may grant options to the directors and
employees of the Group and also other eligible
participants to subscribe for shares of the Company.
The Scheme became effective on 12 July 2002 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
effect for 10 years from that date.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include the following:

(i) any employee or proposed employee (whether
full time or part time) of the Group or any entity
(“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest (including any
executive director but excluding any non-executive
director of the Group or any Invested Entity);

(i) any non-executive director (including independent
non-executive director) of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(iii) any supplier of goods or services to any member

of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
Group or any Invested Entity;

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
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31. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or
consultant to any area of business or business
development of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

(viii) any company wholly owned by one or more of
the eligible participants referred to in (i) to (vii)
above.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue from time to time, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors or their associates in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders.

As at 31 December 2007, no options had been granted
under the Share Option Scheme.

31. BRESE (&)

(vi) AEEEFAIKE QB REMER
BERZEMRKRR A% H
ERIE R B HEIRE B
BOZRERNESR2EMFEER
A

(vii) NEBEMRKE QR SKEMZ
BERBITNERIEBERS
B EmMER (FXEMKHE
fh BRI SKFERA R

(viii) B _E#t ()& (vihBERT R 2 —
Bk ZEEER2EELEHE
BZERAF -

BRIFRAFREBFLAME - TRIE
PRERTEITE T AT 2 B AR EFT S
2 B BE TS BBARAD R TR
D EITRR D 2 30% ° [ IEAR R B A
RELHE  BTRIEMERA TR
EA—EFERNTER 2 ERER
WRIBRNHEE TEBAARNRTR
BEETRMZ1% - MR TEER
REBUFPTESTIHESICHE
AT ZEREBBRARRARAE01%
5 (B {8 8 1B /5 #55,000,000 T © BIJZE
AR B RETESLALE -

RZZET+tF+_A=+—H &
ERBEBEESE AR EBARE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF
31. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

BRESTE @)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of the offer. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
each grant. Options may be exercised at any time
during a period which may commence on a day after
the date of grant of the share options but shall end at
any event not later than ten years from the date of
grant of the options. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will be at least
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average closing
price of the shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant, and (iii) the nominal value
of the shares.

On 26 June 2002, prior to its listing, the Company
granted options to certain executive directors and
employees of the Group to subscribe for an aggregate
of 251,100,000 shares (note) in the Company under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The terms of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are the same as the
Share Option Scheme as described above except that:

(iy the eligible participants are confined to certain
directors, senior management, employees,
consultants and advisers of the Group;

(ii) there is no minimum subscription price;

(iii) the general scheme limit, the individual limit
applicable to each proposed grantee and the
restrictions on grant of options to a connected
person do not apply; and

(iv) The directors may only grant options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time within
a period from 26 June 2002 to 12 July 2002.
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Details of share options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme to certain directors and
employees to subscribe for shares in the Company
are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
31. Share Option Schemes (Continued)

31. BRESE (»)
AR B A BB B BE AR S B

TETEENREBKE  ARBE
ARABBEMZFBEET

Number of options

BRER

Outstanding Outstanding

as at as at

1 January 31 December

2007 Exercised Cancelled 2007

s during during R

ZEEtE the year the year ZEEEET

Exercisable period -f-A REE AEE ZR=t-H

SR AT B BidH X

(Note) (Note) (Note) (Note)

(Wit) () () ()

Directors 12 July 2002 — 11 July 2007 45,000,000 (45,000,000) - -
% “EE-FLAT-AE-E5tFLRt-H

12 January 2003 — 11 January 2008 30,000,000 (30,000,000) - -
Z3E=5-AT-AE-E2EN\§-RA+-H

Employees 12 July 2002 — 11 July 2008 500,000 - - 500,000
= “EECFLATCAECSEN\FLAT-A

75,500,000 (75,000,000) - 500,000

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the Company’s or the Group’s balance
sheet until such time as the options are exercised,
and no charge is recognised in the income statement
in respect of the value of options granted in the year.
Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by
the Company in the share premium account. Options
which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise
date are deleted from the register of outstanding
options.
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31.

32.

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

Note:

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 7 October 2004,
each of the initial issued and unissued shares having a par
value of HK$0.01 were subdivided into five subdivided shares
having a par value of HK$0.002 each with effect from 8
October 2004. This share subdivision gave rise to adjustments
to both the exercise price and the number of underlying
shares granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
and accordingly every option originally granted was increased
to five options.

Retirement Benefit Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make
contributions at HK$1,000 or 5% of the relevant payroll
costs, whichever is the lower, to the scheme. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
People’s Republic of China are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the
local government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 #{ £ — L E+#+ A=+ —HIFZF
33. Related Party Transactions

Transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company,
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including the Company’s directors and certain
highest paid employees, is set out in note 10.

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group
had the following material related party transactions
during the year:

(a) Personal guarantees given by Mr. Chim Kim Kiu,
Jacky, a director of the Company resigned on 10
December 2007, to the extent of HK$19,500,000
to different banks for granting banking facilities,
which had been released during the year, to the
Group.

(b) Personal guarantees given by a close member of
the family of Mr. Sun Tak Keung, a director of the
Company resigned on 28 November 2007, to the
extent of HK$15,000,000 to a bank for granting
banking facilities, which had been released during
the year, to a subsidiary.

(c) Disposal of an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,
Yunnan Changning Kanstar Paper Company
Limited, to Sure Carl Investment Limited, a
company owned by Mr. Chim Kim Kin, Jacky, at a
total consideration of HK$41,600,000.

(d) Purchase of pulp and paper products of
approximately HKD8,484,000 from Yunnan
Changning Kanstar Paper Company Limited
(“Yunnan Changning”), a company owned by Mr.
Chim Kim Kiu, Jacky; and incurrence of expense
of HKD152,000 for selling services provided by
Yunnan Changning.

33. BELXRS
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34. Contingent Liabilities 3. ZIREE

At the balance sheet date, the Company had contingent REER ARz ABED
liabilities as follows: K
The Company
KA T
2007 2006
—®BLE -TTAH
HK$’000 HK$°000
BETT BEF T
Guarantees given to a bank in respect F—REIHEBAREAEZ
of banking facilities utilised RITEE R — MR
by a subsidiary RHZER — 13,700
35. Commitments 35. K iE
(a) Capital Commitments (a) BEBXREE
At the balance sheet date, the capital REER - BETAMERRARE
commitments outstanding contracted for but not BEmRBE 2 MARBITEARE
provided for in these financial statements are as ES NN
follows:
The Group The Company
A5E b NN
2007 2006 2007 2006
“EZtHE  ZZTRE  CZEELE  ZETRF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETFT BT BEFTT BEFTT
Acquisition of property, ~ WENE  BE
plant and equipment K& 816 2,665 816 —
Contributions to a joint ~ H&F—F £
controlled entity EHER 92,589 — - —
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35. Commitments (Continued)
(b) Operating Lease Commitments

At the balance sheet date, the total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancelable

35.

AIE &)
(b) REHELERE

REHEB - RETAHEEE
HHARREXZ N Z &EHEE

operating leases are as follows: REmT
The Group The Company
r5HE NN
2007 2006 2007 2006
Z2ELE  _TTRE  ZBERELE  _ZERF
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000
BETFT BETT BETF T BETT
Properties mE
— Within 1 year ——FR" 651 — 651 —
— After 1 year but within  — —F&EBEF R
5 years — — — —
651 — 651 —
36. Events after the Balance Sheet Date 36. “EREEE

The following agreements were entered into by the
Group in respect of a proposed corporate restructuring:

(i) On 6 February 2008, Modern Lucky International
Limited (“Modern Lucky”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
an agreement (the “Polyard Macau Agreement”)
with Mr. Lam Nam (“Mr. Lam”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which
Mr. Lam shall sell, and Modern Lucky shall
purchase, 50% of the entire capital of Polyard
Petroleum International Company Limited
(“Polyard Macau”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, (the “Polyard Macau
Acquisition”). The consideration of the Polyard
Macau Acquisition shall be satisfied by Modern
Lucky to procure Chinaoil USA (Macao) Company
Limited (“Chinaoil Macao”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, to
unconditionally and irrevocably transfer to Mr. Lam
21% of the participating interest in the production
sharing agreement relating to the oil project in
Brunei (the “Oil Project”).

Upon completion of the Polyard Macau

Acquisition, Polyard Macau will become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Modern Lucky.
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36. Events after the Balance Sheet Date
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

On 6 February 2008, Polyard Macau entered into
an agreement (the “Chinaoil Macao Agreement”)
with Chinaoil (USA) Inc. pursuant to which
Chinaoil (USA) Inc. shall sell, and Polyard Macau
shall purchase, 30% of the entire capital of
Chinaoil Macao (the “Chinaoil Macao
Acquisition”). The consideration of the Chinaoil
Macao Acquisition shall be satisfied by Polyard
Macau to procure Chinaoil Macao to
unconditionally and irrevocably transfer to
Chinaoil (USA) Inc. 18% of the participating
interest in the production sharing agreement
relating to the Oil Project.

Upon completion of the Chinaoil Macao
Acquisition, Chinaoil Macao will become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Polyard Macau.

On 7 February 2008, the Company entered into
an arrangement agreement (the “Arrangement
Agreement”) to secure the proper execution of
the Polyard Macau Agreement and the Chinaoil
Macao Agreement (the “Proposed Corporate
Restructuring”) and to secure a new independent
venturer (the “New Venturer”) to become an
investment party in the Oil Project.

Pursuant to the Arrangement Agreement, Mr. Lam
and Chinaoil (USA) Inc. shall assign to the New
Venturer 21% and 18% participating interest in
the Oil Project respectively upon obtaining
shareholders’ approval for the Proposed
Corporate Restructuring. Should the shareholders’
approval for the Proposed Corporate
Restructuring not be obtained, the New Venturer
shall be entitled to obtain the ownership of the
50% of the entire capital of Polyard Macau and
the 30% of the entire capital of Chinaoil Macao
from Mr. Lam and Chinaoil (USA) Inc. respectively
under the Arrangement Agreement.

Mr. Lam has agreed to bear all the costs and
expenses and to cover any loss that may arise
in/from the Proposed Corporate Restructuring.

36. £EEHEEE (#)

(i)

(iii)
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37. 37.

38.

Change of Company Name

Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 29 August
2007, the company name was changed from Kanstar
Environmental Paper Products Holdings Limited to
Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited. The
Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name was
issued by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman
Islands on 12 October 2007. The Certificate of
Registration of Change of Name of Oversea Company
was issued by the Registrar of Companies in Hong
Kong on 15 November 2007.

Financial Risk and Capital Risk

Management
(a) Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial
risks which result from both its operating and
investing activities. The board of directors and
management meet periodically to analyse and
formulate strategies to manage and monitor these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. As the Group’s
exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other
instruments for hedging purposes.
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk management (Continued)

The Group’s major financial instruments include
cash and bank deposits, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables and short-
term borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
main risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below:

(i) Credit Risk

The carrying amounts of trade receivables
included in the consolidated balance sheet
represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 December 2007 in
relation to its financial assets. No other
financial assets carry a significant exposure
to credit risk.

In order to minimize the credit risk, the
management of the Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products are
made to customers with an appropriate
credit history. The management has also
delegated personnel responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at each balance
sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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3. AR EARKRER

38. Financial

Risk and Capital Risk

Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Credit Risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) with
exposure spread over a number of
customers.

Currency Risk

The Group’s main trading operations are in
the PRC and have no significant exposure
to any specific foreign currency other than
Renminbi.

The Group’s main investment is in Brunei
and has no significant exposure to any
specific foreign currency other than US
dollars.

All the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
are deposits with major banks located in
the PRC, including Hong Kong and Macau.

Certain trade and other receivables and
borrowings of the Group are denominated
in Renminbi. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management does closely
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will
consider undertaking foreign exchange
hedging activities to neutralize the impact
of foreign exchange rate movements on the
Group’s operating results.
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38. KA ERREAKER

38. Financial

Risk and Capital Risk

Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Liquidity Risk

The Group will consistently implement a
prudent liquidity risk management and
ensure that it maintains sufficient cash and
cash equivalents to meet its liquidity
requirements. Banking facilities have also
been arranged with different banks in order
to fund the liquidity requirements. The
management monitors the utilization of
borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

Fair Value and Cash Flow Interest Rate
Risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that
the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is
the risk that the future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to fair value and cash
flow interest risks is minimal as the Group
has no significant long-term financial assets
and liabilities, as such its income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates.
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3. AR EARKRER

38. Financial

Risk and Capital Risk

Management (Continued)

(b)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

to shareholders, return capital to

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as
total liabilities (including current and non-current
liabilities as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total
equity represents the equity as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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38. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 3. ERERKEARREKEE

Management (Continued) (&)
(b) Capital risk management (Continued) (b) BEXEBRER (&)
During 2007, the Group’s strategy, which was RIZZEZLFRN AEEZEK
unchanged from 2006, was to maintain the net B (E_2F /\Eifﬁ%T“)
debt-to-equity ratio at a low level. The net debt- F’Ejf/ﬁﬁﬁﬁ<$/¥ﬁﬁ“‘¥ﬁg f
to-equity ratios at 31 December 2007 and 2006 Ko RZEZLFRITEN
are as follows: FH+-_A=Z+—HZFEKEY
BmbEmT -
2007 2006
—EELHF —EETRF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Total liabilities AT 356,970 34,857
Less: Cash and cash B BHERREEBEY
equivalents (Note 23) (K7t 23) (70,967) (3,809)
Net debt AT 286,003 31,048
Total equity B 2,867,604 253,231
Net debt-to-equity ratio FEBEE AR X 10% 12%
The decrease in the net debt-to-equity ratio at 31 RZZEZ+LF+=ZA=+—H ' F
December 2007 resulted primarily from the issue of BEEEERLEETRFIFEHETR
shares as part of the consideration for the acquisition NUERKE—HNBAR AR
of a subsidiary (Notes 19 and 29). &) Fr ek (FIsE19/%29) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE

39. Particulars of Subsidiaries 39. B A BFE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 RZEZE+LF+_A=+—80 =&
December 2007 were as follows: NEIZHMBARFBENT :

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued capital/
registered capital

Issued and held by the
fully paid Company
share capital/ ARAEEL
Place of registered BERORE/
incorporation/ capital* TMER
operation Forms of BEIR FriEEEL Al
Name of subsidiary Rauays legal entity BERRE/ Directly  Indirectly  Principal activities
WEARER BemE EEERER & A ER B# TEEH
Kanstar Environmental ~ British Virgin International US$1,000 100% - Investment holding
Technology Group Islands Business %711,000 RARR
Limited RERAES Company
BEREBRA
Win Easy International  British Virgin International US$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited Islands Business ey RARR
RERLES Company
BEREBRA
Kanstar Hong Kong Hong Kong Limited Liability ~ HK$1,000,000 — 100% Investment holding
Limited ¥ Company 7 %1,000,0007C and provision of
BEEEERAR BREADA management
services
REAERREH
EERH
Addata Development Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$10,000 — 100% Holding and
Limited ¥ Company 75 110,0007 administration of
MABERERAF BREARA intellectual property

rights for paper filling
materials and
“Kanstar” brandname
BERERELAR
LHBERR
[BE]mhg

_ Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited Annual Report 2007
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For the year ended 31 December 2007 B Z =L L+ F+ A=+ —HILFE
39. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
operation
Name of subsidiary AR/
MEAFER Beny
ERREFNRMER People’s
REFRAR Republic of
Yunnan Kanstar China
High Tech Products & AR
Development
Company Limited
Modern Lucky Hong Kong
International Limited &/
MERERARAT
Polyard Petroleum Hong Kong
(Hong Kong) Limited &%
ARG (BE)ERAT
Polyard Petroleum Macau

International Co., Ltd &

BEHABERERAF

Chinaoil USA (Macao) Macau
Company Limited R

PEBARREE(RM)
BRRA

Polyard Holdings Limited Macau

BRERERAR !

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/
registered
capital*
Forms of BEAR
legal entity BEREK/
AEERER A & A
Wholly Owned US$420,000*
Foreign 420,000% 7T*
Enterprise
NEBERE
Limited Liability HK$2
Company B
AEREEDT
Limited Liability HK$1
Company BEIT
BEREARA
Limited Liability MOP10,000,000
Company 10,000,000 T
BEREADA
Limited Liability MOP10,000,000
Company 10,000,000 T
AEREEDT

Limited Liability MOP10,000,000
Company ~ 10,000,000% 37T
BEREADA

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

at the end of the year.

Annual Report 2007 Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

“ETLFFH DHARERKERRAF

39. Mt B A A =E1E (@)

Proportion of
nominal value of
issued capital/
registered capital
held by the
Company
ARABEL
BRARE/
AMEX
G mE L fl
Directly  Indirectly
ER k3

- 100%

- 100%

— 100%

— 50%

- 35%

- 50%

Principal activities

TEXH

Research, development,
manufacture and sale
of paper filling
materials

i A% BER
HEEMER

Investment holding

RARR

Trading
g%

Investment holding

RAER

Petro-chemical
product dealing
EEAMLIER

Inactive
Tmes

REL  BEMNBARETEMNE
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Five Year Financial Summary A M B =

The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements of the Group, are set

out below:

Results

Turnover

Profit/(loss) attributable to
— equity holders of the
the Company

— Minority interests

ES

For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+t—-BHLEE

AEERBEARMBFEZEAE
HBERARBRZHMZE BEREAKEZ
REZMBHRER) HINMT -

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

ERARERKERRAF

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
—2%= —TENE “ZERF —EERX ZEEtE
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
EEFTL BEFT BEFTT BEFT BETT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&5) (E3) (E751)
EE® 30,782 50,313 53,671 43,295 50,378
EEER,/ (BE)
—ARAREREA
(2,012) 963 103 (18,428) 473,961
— VP ERRES — — — — (846)
(2,012) 963 103 (18,428) 473,115
EEREE
At 31 December
R+=-A=+-H
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
ETCE “ETENF “EEnF —EERE ZEELE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BETTT BEFIT BEFTT BEFIL BEFIT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E7)) (E5) (&51)
BEE 76,691 78,277 85,237 288,088 3,224,574
BaE (22,743) (23,364) (30,059) (34,857) (356,970)
FEE 53,948 54,913 55,178 253,231 2,867,604
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